Motilin- and ghrelin-induced gastric contractions in different parts of *Suncus* stomach *in vitro*

(スンクスの胃各部位でのモチリン及びグレリンによる収縮調節機構)

2017年3月

埼玉大学大学院理工学研究科(博士後期課程)

理工学専攻(主指導教員 坂井 貴文)

AMRITA DUDANI

Motilin- and ghrelin-induced gastric contractions in

different parts of Suncus stomach in vitro

(スンクスの胃各部位でのモチリン及びグレリンによる収縮調節機構)



AMRITA DUDANI

13DB051

Supervisor: Professor Takafumi Sakai

Department of Regulatory Biology Graduate School of Science and Engineering Saitama University Japan

DECLARATION

I hereby declare that this PhD thesis entitled "Motilin- and ghrelin-induced gastric contractions in different parts of *Suncus* stomach *in vitro*" was written by myself for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy under the guidance and supervision of Professor Takafumi Sakai, Graduate School of Science and Engineering, Saitama University, Japan.

Parts of this thesis have been published as research articles in Journal of Comparative Physiology B on April 9, 2016 (entitled "The proximal gastric corpus is the most responsive site of motilin-induced contractions in the stomach of the Asian house shrew").

For the present thesis, which I am submitting to Saitama University, no degree or diploma or distinction has been conferred on me before, either at this or any other University. No portion of the work referred to in this thesis has been submitted in support of an application for another degree or qualification of this or any other university or institute of learning.

Amrita Dudani

Thesis dedicated to

My grandparents

For being my first teacher

My mother

A strong and gentle lady who taught me to trust in god, believe in hard work and that so much could be done with little

My father

For earning an honest living for us and for supporting and encouraging me to believe in myself

My brother and his wife

For being my backbone during my educational career

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Working on the Ph.D. has been a wonderful and often overwhelming experience. It is hard to say whether it has been grappling with the topic itself which has been the real learning experience, or grappling with how to write papers and proposals, give presentations, work in a group, stay up until the birds start singing, and stay focus. In any case, I am indebted to many people for making the time working on my Ph.D. an unforgettable experience.

First, and foremost, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor and my mentor, Professor Dr. Takafumi Sakai, for his continuous inspiration, scientific advice, and many insightful discussions and suggestions. His fatherly encouragement, remarkable patience and invaluable advice on both research and daily life helped me to overcome many crisis situations and finish this dissertation. Words are not sufficient in expressing my thanks to him. I would also like to thank him for showing me the perfect way to groom myself, allowing to be independently plan of my research and finally to grow as a research scientist.

I am also grateful to Associate Professor Dr. Ichiro Sakata for his continuous support with tremendous energy, constructive critique and mentorship throughout the study period. His enthusiasm and love for teaching is admirable.

I am indebted to Dr. Manish Biyani for his invaluable assistance and for other contributions too numerous to mention.

Special thanks go to the review committee of professors, for devoting their time, guidance and constructive criticism, so as to improve this work. Furthermore, I am very grateful to Dr. Akihito Adachi, have always been patient and encouraging in times of new ideas and difficulties; he has listened to my ideas and discussions with him frequently led to key insights. Dr. Shinji Tsukahara, for interviewing me to give the position of Ph.D. in Saitama University. Dr. Tetsuya Kobayashi, for insightful comments both in my work and in this thesis, for their support, and for many motivating discussions. Some faculty members of the institute have been very kind enough to extend their help at various phases of this research, whenever I approached them, and I do hereby acknowledge all of them.

Acknowledgements must go to my Senior Dr. Anupom Mondal who spent much time helping me perfect and provided me with enormous encouragement and wisdom. I am privileged to have him as my "surgical father" for his constant practical help.

Furthermore, I would like to convey my thanks to all colleagues at the Cell Biology laboratory, Saitama University, Japan for being such great friend and colleagues. I learned a lot from them about life in Japan, research environment, how to tackle new problems and how to develop techniques to solve them and most importantly they taught me Japanese language which helped me a lot during my life here. Special thanks are extended to Mikako Nomura and Noriko Hirota for their valuable assistance during the course of my study. I could not have succeeded without their invaluable supports. Every research is incomplete without a support from its Institute; Saitama University supported the work on this thesis. The University Library, the center of learning resources. I take this time to express my gratitude to all the library staff for their services.

Financial assistance, in the form of Monbukagakusho postgraduate scholarship offered by the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science, and Technology (MEXT), Japan enabled me to pursue my studies here in Japan, is gratefully acknowledged.

Words cannot express how grateful I am to my family members for their love, endless patience and understanding during my time spent away from them. The sacrifices that they have made on my behalf and their prayers for me were what sustained me thus far. Last but not the least; I would like to thank my friends and all well-wishers in home and abroad for their love, prayers and encouragement. A special thank you to my buddies Gagan, Amrita, and Heena for always being so positive and cheerful. They were always there for me and kept me somewhat sane during the different times and helped me celebrating the infrequent good times.

Above all, I owe it all to almighty God for granting me the wisdom, health and strength to undertake this research task and enabling me to its completion.

Amrita Dudani Saitama, Japan

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Declaration	Ι
Thesis dedicated to	II
Acknowledgement	III
Table of contents	VI
List of figures	XI
List of tables	XIII
List of appendix	XIV
Abbreviations	XV
Abstract	XVIII
Chapter 1: General Introduction and Objectives	1
1.1. Research background	1
1.1.1. The migrating motor complex (MMC) of the gastrointestinal (GI) motility	1
1.1.2. Motilin and its regulatory mechanism	2
1.1.3. Ghrelin and GI motility	3
1.1.4. Similar properties of motilin and ghrelin	4
1.1.5. Asian house shrew (Suncus murinus)	5
1.2. Hypothesis and objectives	7

Chapter 2: The proximal gastric corpus is the most responsive	
site of motilin-induced contractions in the stomach of the Asian	8
house shrew in vitro	
2.1. Introduction	8
2.1.1. Motilin as an important regulator of MMC	8
2.1.2. Advantages of suncus for studying gastrointestinal physiology including gastric motility	9
2.2. Materials and Methods	11
2.2.1 . Ethical Approval	11
2.2.2. Animals	11
2.2.3. Drugs used	11
2.2.4. Preparation of S. murinus isolated stomach	12
2.2.5. Gastric contractility study	13
2.2.6. GPR38 mRNA expression	14
2.2.7. Statistical analysis	15
2.3. Results	16
2.3.1. Spontaneous contractile pattern in the different segments of isolated stomach	16
2.3.2. Responses to motilin in different segments of stomach	16
2.3.3. The cholinergic pathway of the motilin-induced contraction	18
2.3.4. The myenteric plexus pathway of the motilin-induced contraction	18
2.3.5. GPR38 mRNA expression in the stomach	18

2.4. Discussion	20
2.4.1. Sensitivity towards motilin is region-specific	20
2.4.2. Physiological correlation of MMC and motilin	21
2.4.3. Regulatory mechanism of motilin-induced gastric contraction	21
2.4.4. Motilin receptor GPR38 mRNA expression	22
2.5. Summary	24
Chapter 3: Synergistic effect of motilin and ghrelin induces	
different responses in different segments of the stomach of	25
Suncus murinus in vitro	
3.1. Introduction	25
3.1.1. Regulatory mechanism underlying motilin- and ghrelin-induced gastric contractions	25
3.2.2 Adenosine and dopamine as neurotransmitters and neuromodulators	26
3.2. Materials and Methods	28
3.2.1. Ethical approval	28
3.2.2. Animals	28
3.2.3. RT-PCR	29
3.2.4. Tissue preparation for morphological analysis	29
3.2.5. Immunohistochemical analysis	30
3.2.6. Morphometric analysis	31
3.2.7. Preparation of the isolated <i>S. murinus</i> stomach	31
3.2.8. Analysis of <i>in vitro</i> gastric contractions	32

3.2.9. Drugs used	33
3.2.10. Statistical analysis	33
3.3. Results	35
3.3.1. Synergistic effect of motilin and ghrelin on the different segments of the suncus stomach	35
3.3.2. Motilin and ghrelin synergistically induce gastric contractions through a cholinergic neural pathway	35
3.3.3. GHS-R mRNA expression in the different segments of the suncus stomach	35
3.3.4. Localization of ghrelin-ip cells in the suncus stomach	36
3.3.5. Effect of D-Lys3-GHRP6 and GABA receptor antagonists on motilin- induced gastric contractions <i>in vitro</i>	36
3.3.6. Effect of non-selective adenosine and dopamine receptor agonists on motilin-induced gastric contractions	37
3.3.7. Effect of adenosine A_{2A} receptor agonist and dopamine D_2 receptor agonist on motilin-induced gastric contractions	37
3.4. Discussion	39
3.4.1. Role of ghrelin in the MMC	39
3.4.2. Involvement of the GABAergic pathway in motilin-induced gastric	40
contractions	
3.4.3. Adenosine and dopamine are the key molecules for mediating motilin-induced gastric contractions	41
4. Summary and Conclusion	43

5. Figures, Tables and Appendix	45
6. References	78

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.	Stomach segments used in the study	45
Figure 2.	Motilin induced contractions in the different segments of the isolated stomach	46
Figure 3.	Motilin induced contractions in the stomach segments	48
Figure 4.	Atropine inhibits motilin-induced contractions in the different stomach segments	49
Figure 5.	Tetrodotoxin inhibits motilin-induced contractions in the different stomach segments	51
Figure 6.	mRNA expression of the motilin receptor GPR38 in the suncus stomach	53
Figure 7.	Motilin and ghrelin synergistically induce contractions in the different stomach segments	54
Figure 8.	Atropine inhibits motilin- and ghrelin-induced contractions in the different stomach segments	56
Figure 9.	mRNA expression of the ghrelin receptor, GHSR	58
Figure 10.	Microphotographs of ghrelin-immunopositive cells in the different stomach segments	59

- Figure 11. *In vitro* bicuculline pretreatment shows that the ghrelin-mediated 61 GABAergic pathway is involved in motilin-induced gastric contractions
- Figure 12. *In vitro* phaclofen pretreatment shows that the ghrelin-mediated 63 GABAergic pathway is involved in motilin-induced gastric contractions
- Figure 13. Adenosine and dopamine promote motilin-induced contractions 65 in the whole stomach through the ghrelin-mediated GABAergic pathway
- Figure 14.
 Adenosine promotes motilin-induced gastric contractions through
 66

 the ghrelin-mediated GABAergic pathway
- Figure 15.
 Dopamine promotes motilin-induced gastric contractions through
 68

 the ghrelin-mediated GABAergic pathway
- Figure 16. Adenosine A_{2A} receptor promotes motilin-induced gastric **70** contractions through the ghrelin-mediated GABAergic pathway
- Figure 17. Dopamine D₂ receptor promotes motilin-induced gastric 72 contractions through the ghrelin-mediated GABAergic pathway
- Figure 18. Both adenosine A_{2A} receptor and dopamine D₂ receptor promote 74 motilin-induced contractions in the suncus stomach *in vitro* through the ghrelin-mediated GABAergic pathway

XII

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.Comparison of contractile activity in the different stomach**75**segments based on EC_{50} values of concentration-response curves
of motilin.

LIST OF APPENDIX

Appendix I.	I. Effect of low-dose motilin on the different segments of the	
	suncus stomach	
Appendix II.	Organ bath system for monitoring GI contractions in S.	77

murinus

ABBREVIATIONS

º/o	Percent
° C	Degree Celsius
μm	Micrometer
μΜ	Micromolar
Ach	Acetylcholine Chloride
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CaCl ₂	Calcium chloride
cDNA	Complementary Deoxyribonucleic acid
CNS	Central nervous system
Co.	Company
CO ₂	Carbon dioxide gas
DAB	3,3-diaminobenzidinetetrachloride
DNase	Deoxyribonuclease
DW	Distilled water
e.g.	For example
EC-50	Half maximal effective concentration
et al.	And others
Fig.	Figure
g	Gram
GABA	Gamma-aminobutyric acid

GHS-R	Growth hormone secretagogue receptor
GI	Gastrointestinal
GPR38	G protein-coupled receptor 38 (motilin receptor)
gwt	Gram-weight
h	Hour
H2O2	hydrogen peroxide
ір	Immunopositive
IP	Intra-peritoneal
КАТ	Kathmandu-strain
KCl	Potassium Chloride
Ltd.	Limited
Μ	Molar
MgSO ₄	Magnesium sulphate
min	Minutes
mM	Millimolar
Mm ²	Millimeter square
ММС	Migrating motor complex
mRNA	Messenger Ribonucleic Acid
NaCl	Sodium Chloride
NaH2PO4	Sodium dihydrogen Phosphate
NaHCO ₃	Sodium hydrogen carbonate/ Sodium bicarbonate
O ₂	Oxygen gas
PBS	Phosphate buffer saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction

рН	Potential of Hydrogen
pmol/L	Picomole per litre
qPCR	Quantitative polymerase chain reaction
RT-PCR	Reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction
SEM	Standard error mean
St	Saint
TTX	Tetrodotoxin
UK	United Kingdom
USA	United States of America

ABSTRACT

Background and Aim: Motilin and ghrelin are released in the interdigestive state to initiate and regulate phase III contractions of migrating motor complex (MMC). The MMC is responsible for emptying the stomach during the interdigestive period to prepare for the next meal. Gastric phase III contractions of the MMC originate in the stomach and propagate downward in the alimentary canal. Previously, I found that motilin and ghrelin synergistically induced gastric contractions both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Motilin-induced contractions are regulated by a ghrelin-mediated GABAergic pathway. Therefore, I hypothesized that some regions of the stomach are more responsive to motilin and propagate strong contractions. The present study determined active responsive sites for motilin- and ghrelin-induced contractions in the stomach and elucidated mechanisms underlying the induction of these contractions.

Methods: The stomachs of *Suncus murinus* or Asian house shrew, a small insectivorous mammal, were dissected, and the fundus, proximal corpus, distal corpus, and antrum were isolated to examine the effect of motilin- and/or ghrelin-induced contractions by using an organ bath system. The stomach segments were pretreated with tetrodotoxin, atropine, bicuculline, phaclofen, adenosine, and dopamine to determine the involvement of neural pathways. Quantitative PCR (qPCR) was performed to measure the mRNA expression of the motilin receptor GPR38. Distribution of ghrelin-immunopositive cells and mRNA expression of the GHSR in the different segments of the suncus stomach were examined by performing immunohistochemical analysis and RT-PCR, respectively.

Results: Results of this *in vitro* study showed that treatment with 10⁻¹⁰ M motilin induced contractions only in the proximal corpus. In contrast, treatment with 10⁻⁹ M motilin induced strong contractions in the other segments of the suncus stomach. Motilininduced contractions in each dissected stomach segment were inhibited by tetrodotoxin and atropine pretreatment, suggesting that these contractions were mediated by a cholinergic neural pathway in the myenteric plexus. Treatment with ghrelin (10⁻¹¹–10⁻⁷ M) in the presence of low-dose motilin (10^{-10} M) induced gastric contractions in a dosedependent manner in the fundus and proximal corpus but not in the distal corpus and antrum. In addition, pretreatment with ghrelin antagonist D-Lys3-GHRP6 blocked motilin-induced contractions in all the stomach segments. In contrast, treatment with GABA antagonists reversed this blockade in all the stomach segments. Treatment with adenosine A_{2A} receptor and dopamine D₂ receptor agonists also reversed ghrelin antagonist-induced inhibition of motilin-induced contractions. The mRNA expression of motilin receptor, GPR38 was highest in the proximal corpus and was the lowest in the antrum. The mRNA expression of GPR38 varied, with low expression in the mucosal layer and higher expression in the muscle layer. The mRNA expression of the ghrelin receptor, GHSR was detected in all the stomach segments. Density of ghrelinimmunopositive cells was significantly higher in the fundus and proximal corpus than in the other stomach segments.

Conclusions: These results suggest that each gastric segment shows a different response toward motilin and/or ghrelin. The fundus and proximal corpus, including the cardia, are the most sensitive and responsive to motilin- and/or ghrelin-induced synergistic gastric contractions, suggesting that the proximal part of the stomach along with fundus is the first contractile site for MMC onset. In addition, present results indicate that adenosine (via A_{2A} receptor) and dopamine (via D_2 receptor) play vital roles in regulating motilinand ghrelin-induced gastric contractions.

Chapter 1. General Introduction and Objectives

1.1. Research background

1.1.1. The migrating myoelectric complex (MMC) of the gastrointestinal (GI) motility

Fasting period (or the interdigestive state) is defined as the duration between two successive meals. In all monogastric species including humans, under normal conditions, ingested food material is digested by the stomach and upper intestine during the digestive period, and the upper alimentary canal is almost empty during interdigestive state [Romański 2009]. However, the undigested food remnants, bacteria, and cellular debris can remain in the gastrointestinal lumen. Therefore, the motor function in the interdigestive period ensures mixing, transport, digestion, and absorptive processes of the relatively small amounts of luminal content during this period. These movements maintain a homeostatic balance between the various secretions during the digestive period and absorption in the fasting state which in turn prevents accumulation of the digestive juices and also prevents from gastrointestinal motor abnormalities [Romański 2009]. Since these cycles move down along the bowel, they were called as the migrating myoelectric complexes (MMC) [Szurszewski 1969], and it has been considered that MMC plays an important role as "gastrointestinal housekeeper" [Code 1979].

In 1969, Szurszewski recorded intestinal migrating myoelectrical activity using dogs and was the first to describe that the motility of the stomach and small intestine in the interdigestive occurs cyclically [Szurszewski 1969]. In 1977, Vantrappen et al. reported the similar results in humans [Vantrappen et al. 1977]. In human and dog, MMC is cyclic

and occur between every 90-120 mins [Wingate 1981, Itoh 1997, Charles 1975]. It is subdivided into three phases in mammalian species: Phase I (period of motor quiescence), is the quiescence phase with substantially no contractions; Phase II (period of irregular and low-amplitude contractions) consists of intermittent, irregular low-amplitude contractions; Phase III (period of regular and high-amplitude contractions) is characterized by the most active and a short burst of phasic contractions at maximum amplitude and frequency [Husebye 1999, Nieuwenhuijs et al. 1998, Sarna 1985].

Maintaining MMC cycle in the fasting period is physiologically important because MMC phase III contributes to the interdigestive flow [Kerlin et al. 1982] and impaired gastric phase III activity may result in various GI disorders as it leads to various abnormalities like impediment of the gastric contents as well as small intestinal bacterial overgrowth (SIBO) [Nieuwenhuijs et al. 1998, Pimental et al. 2002, Takahashi 2013]. The regulation of MMC involves myogenic, hormonal and neural mechanisms [Aeberhard et al. 1980, Hall et al. 1986, Naslund et al. 1998, Ormsbee et al. 1979, Hakim et al. 1989, Harvey 1975]. Among those, several hormones have been reported to be involved in mediating MMC, but motilin and ghrelin are included to the most vital regulating factors for MMC [Itoh et al. 1976, Tack et al. 2006].

1.1.2. Motilin and its regulatory mechanism

Motilin known as a prokinetic hormone is released from the endocrine M-cells of the duodenojejunal mucosa during the fasting period [Brown et al. 1973, Dryburgh et al. 1975]. Motilin was given this name because of its ability to stimulate gastric motility [Brown et al. 1971]. MMC re-occurs every 90-120 minutes for the reason that plasma motilin levels increase cyclically and completely corresponds with the gastric phase III

peak in dogs [Hall et al. 1983; Itoh et al. 1976] and humans [Janssens et al. 1983; Vantrappen et al. 1979] and this cyclical release of motilin decreases after ingestion of food [Ohno et al. 2010]. Exogenous administration of motilin also propagates gastric phase III-like contractions in human, dogs, and suncus [Itoh et al. 1976; Janssens et al. 1983; Kuroda et al. 2015; Wingate et al. 1976; Sakahara et al. 2010]. From the in vitro studies, it was reported that motilin-induced a dose-dependent gastric contractions in monogastric animals [Broad et al. 2016; Kitazawa et al. 1994; Tsutsui et al. 2009; Mondal et al. 2011; Strunz et al. 1975]. Hence, endogenous motilin is considered as the physiologically most predominant to induce phase III contraction [Zietlow et al. 2010]. Mechanism of motilin-induced gastric contraction varies among the species. However, in humans and rabbits, gastric contraction induced by high doses of motilin is mediated through direct stimulation of smooth muscle while low doses of motilin exert its effects via a neural pathway [Broad et al. 2016; Coulie et al. 1998; Dass et al. 2003; De Smet et al. 2009; Depoortere et al. 2003; Jarvie et al. 2007; Sanger 2012; Van Assche et al. 1997]. Besides these, motilin induces gastric contractions through neural pathways in the dog and suncus [Mizumoto et al. 1993; Mondal et al. 2011]. Together these results suggest that regulatory mechanism of motilin-induced contraction varies not only among the species but also with concentration of motilin.

1.1.3. Ghrelin and GI motility

Ghrelin is a 28-amino-acid octanoylated peptide hormone that was first identified in the rat and human stomach in 1999 as the endogenous ligand for the growth hormone secretagogue receptor (GHS-R) [Kojima et al. 1999]. Plasma ghrelin levels have been found to intensify before and decrease after a meal in humans [Cummings et al. 2001]. Several previous studies have reported that ghrelin has gastroprokinetic effects

[Depoortere et al. 2005, Sallam 2010]. The major physiological actions of ghrelin include the regulation of growth hormone secretion [Kojima et al. 1999, Seoane et al. 2000, Tolle et al. 2001], food intake [Nakazato et al. 2001, Wren et al. 2000], energy metabolism [Tschop 2000, Perez-Tilve et al. 2011], GI motility [Nakamura 2010, Perboni 2010, Zheng J 2009], gastric acid secretion [Fukumoto et al. 2008, Masuda et al. 2000, Yakabi 2008], cardiovascular function [Okumura 2002], and cell proliferation [Duxbury et al. 2003, Maccarinelli et al. 2005]. The ghrelin-stimulated gastric contraction was observed in rats [Masuda et al. 2000] and mice [Zheng J 2009], suggesting that it acts as a substitute for motilin in motilin-lacking rodents [Peeters 2004] as for GI motility. Furthermore, peak plasma ghrelin levels are correlated with phase-III-like contractions in rats [Ariga et al. 2007]. Ghrelin-induced phase III-like gastric contractions are mediated via vagal cholinergic pathways in mice [Zheng J 2009]. Even though ghrelin is not able to stimulate gastric phase-III contractions in dogs [Ohno et al. 2006], high dose of ghrelin induced premature phase-III-like contractions in human stomachs [Tack et al. 2006]. However, it has been observed that endogenous ghrelin is necessary for phase II contractions, and a certain level of ghrelin is needed to initiate phase-III contractions in suncus [Kuroda et al. 2015].

1.1.4. Similar properties of motilin and ghrelin

In humans, 50% of the precursor mRNAs for motilin and ghrelin are homogenous, and their ligands also share about 21% amino acid identity [Peeters 2005]. The specific receptor for ghrelin is GHS-R [Howard et al. 1996] and for motilin is GPR38 [Feighner et al. 1999], both having similar structures belong to the class A rhodopsin-like G-protein-coupled seven-transmembrane receptor family [McKee et al. 1997]. The receptors for motilin and ghrelin also exhibit a substantial homology in sequence with an

overall identity of 44%, which is 87% in the transmembrane regions [Peeters 2005]. Recent reports on suncus clearly showed using quantitative RT-PCR that suncus ghrelin is highly expressed in the mucosal layer of gastric corpus, pylorus, and antrum whereas high expression of motilin was found in the small intestine [Ishida et al. 2009, Tsutsui et al. 2009]. It has also been shown that both GHS-R and GPR38 receptors in the central nervous system were expressed in the hypothalamus, medulla oblongata, pituitary gland and the nodose ganglion [Suzuki et al. 2012]. GHS-R mRNA expression has been found in both muscle and mucosa of the stomach and small intestine, but GPR38 was found to express in the gastric muscle layer, large intestine, lungs and heart [Suzuki et al. 2012]. These findings suggest that in suncus, ghrelin and motilin exert their functions through specific receptors expressed in the GI tract and in the central nervous system. Moreover, previous studies have demonstrated a synergistic effect of motilin and ghrelin on gastric contractions in vitro and in anesthetized suncus specimens in vivo [Mondal et al. 2012]. In suncus, the coordination of motilin and ghrelin is necessary to initiate phase III contraction of the MMC [Mondal et al. 2013]. Therefore, it is reasonable to assume an additional or synergistic relationship between these family peptides on various physiological functions. However, detailed studies are needed regarding physiological functions of motilin and ghrelin besides the stimulation of gastric contraction.

1.1.5. Asian house shrew (*Suncus murinus*)

In spite of the fact that motilin was recognized decades earlier as compared with ghrelin, there are lesser reports on its physiological roles besides its contribution in GI motility. The possible reason for this might be due the fact that studying the biological action of motilin is difficult. Also, one of the possible reasons for the delayed advancement of research concerning motilin is that the worldwide conveniently used rodents cannot be utilized for motilin studies owing to the fact that since the common ancestor of these animals has the impotent motilin gene, rodents are the natural knockout for motilin and its receptors [He 2010]. Dogs and humans are most widely used to study the physiological effects of motilin in vivo [Itoh et al. 1978], which limits the study of the detailed mechanisms of action, e.g., the distribution of motilin and GPR38 mRNA expression and the neuronal signaling pathways involved in motilin stimulation. Ghrelin can induce gastric contraction in rats, mice, and humans but not in the dogs and rabbits [Ohno et al. 2006]. Therefore, a new animal model relevant to human physiology is necessary to study the motilin system. We used Asian house shrew (S. murinus, suncus used as a laboratory name), belonging to the order Insectivora and the family Soricidae. Order Insectivora has traditionally been regarded as one of the key links for studying the origin of mammals [Murphy 2007, Depoortere 2003]. In recent years, suncus has been used for anti-emetic research for identifying mechanisms of vomiting and in the development of anti-emetic drugs unlike mice and rats [Ito et al. 2002, Ito 2005, Ito et al. 2003, Matsuki 1996]. Suncus viscera resembles a lot to that of humans and therefore is an appropriately suitable model organism for studying the physiology and pathophysiology of humans [Yi et al. 2004, Yi et al. 2005]. The structure of the suncus gastric mucosa is identical to that of humans, but not hamsters, rats, and mice [Kanamori 1989]. For example, a glandular mucosa with well-developed luminal folds has been identified in the gastric mucosa of suncus, and it has no forestomach as observed in mice and hamsters. cDNA sequence of suncus motilin and ghrelin and their receptors have already been identified [Suzuki et al. 2012, Ishida et al. 2009, Tsutsui et al. 2009] and it was found that suncus has almost identical GI motility and motilin responses to those found in humans and dogs [Tsutsui et al. 2009, Sakahara et al. 2010], suggesting that

suncus is the suitable animal that can be conveniently used to study the effects of both ghrelin and motilin on gastric motility and their mechanisms of action for applications in human medicine and physiology.

1.2. Hypothesis and Objective

Suncus produce motilin and ghrelin and their receptors throughout the GI tract as discussed above. Taken together, I deliberated that some comparatively active site might be present in the stomach that respond differently towards motilin and ghrelin. Using suncus as a model animal, I examined the main active site of motilin by dividing the stomach into various parts. In the second experiment, I studied the synergistic effect of motilin and ghrelin on gastric motility in different parts and its underlying mechanism. Therefore, this study aimed at finding the most active and responsive site for motilin-induced contractions in suncus stomach and their regulatory mechanisms.

Chapter 2. The proximal gastric corpus is the most responsive site of motilin-induced contractions in the stomach of the Asian house shrew *in vitro*

2.1. Introduction

2.1.1. Motilin as an important regulator of MMC

During the fasting period, the upper gastrointestinal (GI) tract undergoes a temporally coordinated cyclic motor pattern known as the migrating motor complex (MMC) in both humans and dogs [Vantrappen et al. 1979, Szurszewski 1969]. MMC is believed to be physiologically important for the mechanical and chemical cleansing of the empty stomach and preparation for the next meal [Code 1979; Sarna et al. 1983; Sarna 1985; Wingate 1981]. Motilin was initially isolated from a side fraction produced during the purification of secretin [Brown et al. 1971], and later its complete amino acid sequence was determined, by J.C. Brown in 1973 from porcine duodenal mucosa [Brown et al. 1973]. Several physiological factors are needed to sustain motor function in the interdigestive period, but motilin is considered the most important in the regulation of MMC. Some previous studies have revealed that an increase in plasma motilin concentration results in simultaneous contractile activity in the stomach [Itoh et al. 1978; Janssens et al. 1983]. Also, exogenous motilin administration induced MMC phase IIIlike contraction in the stomach [Itoh et al. 1976] and gastric phase III contraction was completely eliminated by neutralizing circulating motilin with motilin antiserum or motilin antagonist [Lee et al. 1983; Lee et al. 1978; Ozaki et al. 2009; Sudo et al. 2008], indicating that endogenous motilin induces gastric phase III in the interdigestive period. These rhythmic motor patterns originate from the foregut and propagate downward in the alimentary canal [Kellow et al. 1986; Sanger et al. 2010]. Since the plasma motilin peak is associated with the gastric phase III peak, I hypothesized that there could be a specific area in the stomach where motilin binds with its receptor and initiates gastric phase III contraction. There also may be a possibility that different areas of the stomach may respond differently towards motilin.

2.1.2. Advantages of suncus for studying gastrointestinal physiology including gastric motility

Previously, the contractile properties of the *S. murinus* stomach, in both conscious freemoving and in an organ bath experiment was studied, and found that *S. murinus* has almost the same GI motility and motilin response as that found in humans and dogs [Sakahara et al. 2010; Tsutsui et al. 2009], indicating that *S. murinus* can be used for GI motility studies. From *in vivo* and *in vitro* experiments using *S. murinus*, it was demonstrated that motilin-induced gastric contractions are mediated through the myenteric plexus [Mondal et al. 2011; Sakahara et al. 2010]. Similar results showing involvement of myenteric plexus in motilin-evoked gastric contractions have been reported in other species [De Smet et al. 2009; Kitazawa et al. 1995; Mizumoto et al. 1993; Ohshiro et al. 2008; Van Assche et al. 1997].

In this study, I investigated the active and most responsive site for motilin-induced gastric contractions in the suncus stomach. Thus, I examined the motilin-induced gastric contractile pattern in different parts of the stomach and its mechanism using an organ bath system. To confirm the functional results, I also measured the mRNA expression of

9

motilin receptor GPR38 in various parts of the S. murinus stomach using quantitative PCR analysis.

2.2. Materials and Methods

2.2.1. Ethical approval

All procedures were approved and performed in accordance with the Saitama University Committee on Animal Research. All efforts were made to minimize animal suffering and to minimize the number of animals used in the experiment.

2.2.2. Animals

Experiments were conducted with female *S. murinus*, aged 15-20 weeks old and weighing 50–75 g, of an outbred KAT strain, established from a wild population in Kathmandu, Nepal. Animals were housed individually in plastic cages equipped with an empty can as a nest box and were provided food (trout pellets; Nippon Formula Feed Manufacturing Co., Ltd., Yokohama, Japan) and water *ad libitum*. The metabolizable energy content of the pellets was 344 kcal 100 g⁻¹, consisting of 54.1% protein, 30.1% carbohydrate, and 15.8% fat. The animal room was maintained at $21-24^{\circ}$ C and the light and dark cycle were controlled to change every 12 h (lights on from 8.00 to 20.00 h).

2.2.3. Drugs used

The administration volume of each drug was 1% of the bath volume. Acetylcholine chloride (ACh; Sigma-Aldrich Co. LLC., USA) was dissolved in distilled water (DW), and synthetic *S. murinus* motilin (Bex, Tokyo, Japan) was dissolved in 0.1% BSA/PBS. In antagonist or inhibitor experiments, the stomachs were equilibrated before the application of *S. murinus* motilin with the antagonist or inhibitor: atropine sulfate (10^{-6}

M; Merck, USA) and tetrodotoxin (TTX; 10⁻⁶ M; Wako Pure Chemical Industries, Ltd, Osaka, Japan) for 30 min. Concentrations of drugs are expressed as final molar concentrations in the bath solution. Both atropine sulfate and TTX were dissolved in DW before use. All reagents were prepared for each experiment according to the manufacturer's instructions.

2.2.4. Preparation of S. murinus isolated stomach

After the animals were fasted for 8 h, they were decapitated after being deeply anesthetized with pentobarbital sodium (100 mg/kg IP). The stomach was dissected out after laparotomy and immediately placed in freshly prepared Krebs' solution (NaCl 118 mM, KCl 4.75 mM, CaCl₂ 2.5 mM, MgSO₄ 1.2 mM, NaH₂PO₄ 1.8 mM, NaHCO₃ 25 mM, and glucose 11.5 mM; pH 7.2–7.4). The mesentery attachments and fatty tissues were removed, and the inside of the stomach was washed with Krebs' solution through a small incision in the gastric fundus. The stomachs were sectioned into four parts: the fundus, proximal corpus (includes the cardia), distal corpus, and antrum, as shown in Fig. 1. The cutting sites of the stomach were decided by two notches, the cardiac notch, and angular notch. Differences in tissue coloring were also used to distinguish between different parts. The whitish body above the cardiac notch was dissected as fundus. The proximal corpus was cut out along the lower part of the esophagus, and the cardiac region was included in the proximal corpus section. The remainder of the cylindrical body was considered distal corpus. The antrum is distinctly visible as a whitish pink body below the angular notch. Tissues with mucosa attached to the muscle layer were used instead of muscle layer strips. The longitudinal and circular muscle layers were not separated into strips because as previously shown, myenteric plexus is important for motilininduced suncus gastric contractions [Mondal et al. 2012], and keeping an intact anatomical structure of the myenteric neuron and smooth muscle is essential for studying motilin-induced contraction. The segmented stomach parts were mounted in 10-ml water-jacketed organ baths along the longitudinal muscle direction with the thread tied on cut edge surfaces. Contractility is hence obtained from longitudinal muscle. Tissues were initially loaded with approximately 0.5 g weight. The temperature of Krebs' solution was maintained at 37 ± 0.5 °C, and the solution was aerated continuously with carbogen (a mixture of 95% O₂ and 5% CO₂).

2.2.5. Gastric Contractility study

Contractile activities of the stomach with motilin treatment were monitored using an isometric force transducer (UM-203, Iwashiya Kishimoto Medical Instruments, Kyoto, Japan) and software (PicoLog for Windows, Pico Technology Ltd., St. Neots, UK). To normalize the contractions of each segment, stomach sections were first treated with acetylcholine chloride (ACh 10^{-5} M) twice before the experiment, and at the end of the experiment, ACh (10^{-5} M) was introduced once again into the organ bath. The percentage of maximal contractions were then calculated by averaging the tonic response induced by these three ACh (10^{-5} M) administrations. To examine the effect of motilin, each stomach section was treated with the *S. murinus* motilin (10^{-10} to 10^{-7} M) in the absence or presence of antagonist or inhibitor, and motilin-induced contractions were measured, and contraction was measured in g weight tension. Then, the effects of *S. murinus* motilin in the absence or presence of antagonists or inhibitors were determined. The pH of the bath was checked before drug administration to ensure it was between 7.2 and 7.4.

2.2.6. GPR38 mRNA expression

Stomachs were dissected into four parts: fundus, proximal corpus, distal corpus, and antrum; then, the mucosal layers and the muscle layer were peeled off using a glass slide. Separated tissues were frozen with liquid nitrogen and broken using CRYO PLUS (Microtech Co., Ltd., Chiba, Japan) before being dipped in ISOGEN (Nippon Gene, Tokyo, Japan). The total RNA from the tissues was extracted using ISOGEN (Nippon Gene) according to the manufacturer's instructions and then subjected to DNase treatment. cDNA was synthesized from 1 µg total RNA using the High Capacity RNAto-cDNA kit (Applied Biosystems, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The oligonucleotide-specific primers for S. murinus B-actin are forward 5'-TGCGTGACATCAGGAGAAG -3'; reverse 5'- TCCAGAGAGGAAGAGGATGC -3', and those for GPR38 are forward 5'- ACAGGCAGACCATCCGC -3'; reverse 5'-TACATTGTCCGGGTGTCCTT -3'. The quantitative PCR (qPCR) reactions were performed using a Light Cycler (Roche Diagnostics, USA) with SYBR Premix Ex-Taq GC (Takara BIO, Shiga, Japan). The initial template denaturation was programmed for 30 s at 95°C. PCR was performed with 40 cycles of 10 s at 95°C, 20 s at 64°C and 30 s at 72°C, and a final cooling step was performed for 30 s at 40°C. The S. murinus β -actin mRNA was used as the invariant control. The expression of each mRNA is shown relative to β -actin mRNA expression. All reactions were performed in duplicate, and each transcript was quantitatively measured by establishing a linear amplification curve from serial dilutions of each plasmid containing the amplicon sequence. The amplicon size and specificity were confirmed using a melting curve analysis and 2% agarose gel electrophoresis.
2.2.7. Statistical analysis

The results are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. Recording experiments were repeated individually at least three times, and similar results were obtained. The number of animals used for statistical analyses are represented in the figure legends. I used GraphPad Prism 5 software (GraphPad Software Inc., CA, USA) to analyze the data. Statistical analyses were performed using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test. P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

2.3. Results

2.3.1. Spontaneous contractile pattern in the different segments of isolated stomach

The isolated *S. murinus* stomach in the organ bath showed spontaneous contraction activity under a basal 0.5-gram weight (gwt) resting tension, and contraction differed among all parts of the stomach. In the fundus, the spontaneous contractile activity was unclear and arrhythmic, and the amplitude of spontaneous contraction was about 0.2 gwt (Fig. 2A). The amplitude of the spontaneous contraction of the proximal corpus was approximately 0.4 gwt, and the contractile rate was 12–16 cycles per minute (Fig. 2B). In the distal corpus, the amplitude of the spontaneous contraction activity was approximately 0.3 gwt, and the rate was approximately 8–12 cycles per minute (Fig. 2C). In the antrum, the amplitude of the spontaneous contraction activity was approximately 0.5 gwt, and the rate was approximately 2–6 cycles per minute (Fig. 2D). The maximum tensions produced by ACh (10^{-5} M) were also different in each stomach segment (Fig. 2A–D). In fundus and proximal corpus, ACh-induced maximum tension was approximately 2.5 gwt, whereas it was 5 gwt in the distal corpus and 4 gwt in the antrum.

2.3.2. Responses to motilin in different segments of stomach

To examine the difference in response to motilin treatment in stomach sites, S. murinus motilin $(10^{-10}-10^{-7} \text{ M concentrations})$ was introduced into the organ bath, and contractile amplitudes and frequencies were measured. Although motilin-induced contraction occurred in a concentration-dependent manner, the responses to motilin varied according to the stomach parts (Fig. 2A–D and Fig. 3). In the fundus, motilin-induced contractions in a dose-dependent manner were observed starting from a concentration of 10^{-9} M .

Maximum contractions at the 10⁻⁷ M concentration were about 64% of ACh-induced contractions (Fig. 2A, Fig. 3). In the proximal corpus, motilin-induced contractions were observed starting from a concentration of 10⁻¹⁰ M; 50% response of the ACh was observed in response to this concentration. Maximum contractions (89%) were observed in response to the 10⁻⁹ M concentration, and contractions were the same at higher doses of motilin, 10⁻⁸ M and 10⁻⁷ M (Fig. 2B, Fig. 3). In the distal corpus, the 10⁻¹⁰ M motilin concentration did not increase contractile activity. The contraction was induced by motilin concentrations of 10^{-9} M and higher; contraction responses were 25%, 54%, and 71% of the total ACh-induced contractions at 10⁻⁹ M, 10⁻⁸ M, and 10⁻⁷ M motilin concentrations, respectively (Fig. 2C, Fig. 3). In the antrum, the amplitude of contraction (gwt tension) was increased in a dose-dependent manner starting from the 10^{-9} M motilin concentration, and showed the maximum contraction response of 28% at 10⁻⁷ M (Fig. 3), although this was not significant. In addition, the frequency of contraction was increased significantly at 10⁻⁹ M, 10⁻⁸ M, and 10⁻⁷ M motilin concentrations and the rate of contractile activity changed to 8-9 cycles per minute (Fig. 2D). The EC50 values of motilin-induced contractions in different regions of the stomach are shown in Table-1. Since 10⁻¹¹ M motilin concentration did not induce contraction in any stomach part, contractions at this concentration were considered to be zero. It was observed that the proximal corpus had higher potency because it had a low concentration of motilininduced gastric contractions compared to other parts of the stomach. Comparing contraction responses for motilin in each stomach sections, the response in the proximal corpus was significantly higher than that in the other sections to the 10^{-9} M, 10^{-8} M and 10^{-7} M motilin concentrations (Fig. 3). Even at the lower dose (10^{-10} M), the proximal corpus showed high reactivity.

2.3.3. The cholinergic pathway of the motilin-induced contraction

Atropine, a muscarinic receptor antagonist, suppressed spontaneous contractile activity in all of the stomach sections (Fig. 4A–D). Under atropine pretreatment, motilin concentrations of 10^{-10} to 10^{-8} M did not induce contraction in any stomach parts (Fig. 4A–E). However, motilin concentration of 10^{-7} M induced contractions in all parts of the stomach, but they were not significant. (Fig. 4E).

2.3.4. The myenteric plexus pathway of the motilin-induced contraction

I also examined the involvement of TTX, a potent neurotoxin that blocks action potentials in nerves by binding to the voltage-gated Na⁺ channel, and found that TTX did not affect the spontaneous contraction of the fundus, proximal corpus, and distal corpus (Fig. 5A–C). The spontaneous contraction of the antrum altered after TTX administration, as shown in Fig. 5D and the amplitude was slightly decreased. Under TTX pretreatment, motilin concentrations of 10⁻¹⁰ to 10⁻⁸ M did not evoke contraction in all of the stomach segments (Fig. 5A–E) and only the 10⁻⁷ M concentration slightly induced contractions, not significantly, in the fundus, proximal corpus, and distal corpus (Fig. 5E).

2.3.5. GPR38 mRNA expression in the stomach

To analyze the distribution of GPR38 in the stomach, I compared the GPR38 mRNA expression level in the fundus, proximal corpus, distal corpus, and antrum using qPCR. I found that GPR38 mRNA expression was low in the mucosal layer and high in the muscle layer in all areas of the stomach. In the muscle layer, the GPR38 mRNA

expression level differed among stomach parts, with the highest expression in the proximal corpus and lowest in the antrum (Fig. 6).

2.4. Discussion

2.4.1. Sensitivity towards motilin is region-specific

I observed that there are differences in response to motilin in various stomach parts in *vitro*. The response to motilin in the proximal corpus was higher than that in the other parts of the stomach, especially with the low motilin concentration, i.e., the 10⁻¹⁰ M motilin concentration, which slightly induced contractions and the contraction response at 10⁻⁹ M were significantly higher in the proximal corpus than that in the other parts. From previously published reports of concentration-dependent contractile effects of motilin on the isolated S. murinus whole stomach in vitro, it was reported that motilininduced contraction occurred starting from the 10⁻⁹ M concentration [Mondal et al. 2011]. Even though the stomach was divided into four sections, each of sections retained the ability to react to motilin, similar to that observed *in vitro* in the whole stomach. Also, the speed of onset of contraction and the amplitude of contraction increased in all the parts with motilin in dose dependent manner. This delay might be caused by the permeation of the motilin into the tissue. Interestingly, the effect of the motilin in the antrum was different from that in the other sections, a dose-related increase in contractile frequency was observed in the antrum. However, both the fundus and antrum showed dose-dependent increases in contraction and the proximal corpus showed maximum contractile activity at much lower dose of motilin at 10⁻¹⁰ M concentration. These results suggest that the proximal corpus is the most sensitive to motilin treatment. In a study on humans, it has already been showed that different regions of the GI tract responded differently to electrical field stimulation-induced contractions under motilin pretreatment [Broad et al. 2012]. They clearly showed that in gastric fundus and antrum, EFS evoked contraction were monophasic, and frequency-dependent which were caused by cholinergic activity dominating simultaneous activation of inhibitory nitrergic neurons, as well as this difference in region-specific response towards motilin, is attributed to various neural pathways like cholinergic, nitrergic and tachykinin-ergic being involved [Broad et al. 2012]. Likewise, in suncus, involvement of these neural pathways in the myenteric plexus has been reported by Mondal et al. to be involved in motilin-induced contraction responses [Mondal et al. 2011].

2.4.2. Physiological correlation of MMC and motilin

It has been found that plasma motilin concentration in dogs and humans shows cyclic changes during MMC, and its peak is correlated with phase III contractions. In humans and dogs, plasma motilin concentrations ranges approximately 100–500 pmol/L, corresponding to 10^{-10} M– 10^{-8} M in the blood [Hall et al. 1983; Itoh et al. 1983; Itoh et al. 1978; Janssens et al. 1983; Vantrappen et al. 1979]. In the present study, only the proximal corpus responded to motilin at the concentration of 10^{-10} M, which is close to the physiological dose. Based on this result, the proximal corpus is thought to be the first target site of motilin, and it is probable that contractions begin at the proximal corpus and propagate downwards.

2.4.3 Regulatory mechanism of motilin-induced gastric contraction

I found that motilin-induced contractions in all gastric segments were inhibited by TTX and atropine pretreatment, suggesting that motilin-induced gastric contraction is mediated through the cholinergic neural pathway in the myenteric plexus in all regions of the stomach. In the fundus and corpus, at high concentration, motilin 10^{-7} M slightly increased contraction even under atropine and TTX treatment but is almost negligible. It has been reported that plasma motilin concentration varies approximately between 10^{-10} $M-10^{-8}$ M [Hall et al. 1983; Itoh et al. 1983; Janssens et al. 1983; Vantrappen et al. 1979]. The contractile action of motilin from 10^{-10} to 10^{-7} M concentration in all the segments of the suncus stomach was significantly eliminated by atropine and tetrodotoxin treatment and mediates through the neural pathway in all the parts of the suncus stomach. However, in previous reports, a high concentration of motilin that is thought to be pharmacological concentration stimulate gastric contraction by the myogenic effect. For example, motilin-induced myogenic contraction in rabbits at 10^{-6} M [Adachi et al. 1981; Depoortere et al. 1995] and 10^{-7} M for humans and chickens; [Coulie et al. 1998; Shim 2002; Kitazawa et al. 1995; Kitazawa et al. 1997]; however, this myogenic contraction was not evident in the suncus. Atropine or TTX treatment almost completely attenuated the motilin-evoked gastric contraction in each segment of stomach indicating that each gastric segment contracts with the similar mechanism i.e. cholinergic neural pathway.

2.4.4. Motilin receptor GPR38 mRNA expression

Previously, the *S. murinus* motilin receptor (GPR38) gene was identified and the fact that its expression was high in the stomach [Suzuki et al. 2012]. I analyzed this in more detail and showed that the distribution of GPR38 mRNA expression differs in different parts of the stomach by using quantitative PCR method. It was found that GPR38 mRNA expression was low in the mucosal layer and high in the muscle layer in every part of the stomach. Moreover, in the muscle layer, the GPR38 mRNA expression level differed in each stomach section, with the highest in the proximal corpus and the lowest in the antrum. Therefore, the high reactivity for motilin in the proximal corpus may be caused by the high expression of GPR38, suggesting that the proximal corpus area, including the cardia, may be a site of onset of motilin-induced phase III contraction. In humans, motilin receptor immunoreactivity was identified in the muscle and myenteric plexus in the upper gut. Immunoreactivity studies indicate that the motilin receptor is co-expressed with choline acetyltransferase in neurons [Broad et al. 2012]. Together, these results suggest that GPR38 expressed in the neurons of the myenteric plexus is the first target of plasma motilin in MMC.

2.5. Summary

From the present study, it can be concluded that the proximal corpus and cardia was an important site for motilin-induced contractions, with high GPR38 mRNA expression. Motilin 10⁻⁹ M stimulates contraction in all the parts of the stomach, but the lower concentration of motilin 10⁻¹⁰ M stimulates contraction in the proximal corpus, suggesting that the proximal corpus is the first site in which contractions are induced by motilin stimulation, and hence the MMC propagates from the proximal corpus to the distal tract and downwards in the GI tract. These motilin-evoked gastric response is mediated by cholinergic neurons in the myenteric plexus.

Chapter 3. Synergistic effect of motilin and ghrelin induces different responses in different segments of the stomach of *Suncus murinus in vitro*

3.1 Introduction

3.1.1 Regulatory mechanism underlying motilin- and ghrelin-induced gastric contractions

An evident association between plasma motilin levels and gastric phase III contractions has been reported in dogs and humans [Itoh et al. 1976, Itoh et al. 1978, Janssens et al. 1983, Vantrappen et al. 1979, Hall et al., 1983]. Similar plasma ghrelin peaks and phase III-like contractions have been observed in rats [Ariga et al. 2007]. In *S. murinus*, the gastric migrating motor complex (MMC) is regulated synergistically by motilin and ghrelin both *in vitro* and *in vivo* [Mondal et al. 2012]. However, motilin-induced contractions vary among different stomach segments, as shown in Chapter 2. Therefore, I investigated the synergistic effect of motilin and ghrelin in different segments of the suncus stomach.

Endogenous ghrelin is important for inducing gastric phase II and phase III contractions [Mondal et al. 2013]. Moreover, ghrelin is an indispensable hormone for promoting motilin-induced gastric contractions in conscious suncus. Interestingly, GABAergic neurons seem to be involved in motilin-induced contractions [Kuroda et al. 2015]. Therefore, I examined the involvement of the GABAergic pathway in different stomach segments by using an *in vitro* organ bath system. To determine the complete mechanism underlying motilin-induced gastric contractions, I investigated the driving forces of GABAergic neurons. Several studies on the central nervous system (CNS) indicate that adenosine and dopamine act as major neurotransmitters and neuromodulators of GABAergic neurons [Fuxe et al. 2003, Ferre et al. 1993].

3.1.2 Adenosine and dopamine as neurotransmitters and neuromodulators

Adenosine is a ubiquitous endogenous homeostatic modulator secreted by almost all cells, including neuronal and glial cells. Newby in 1984 named adenosine as a "retaliatory metabolite," and Englar in 1991 named it as a "signal of life" [Newby 1981, Englar 1991]. Adenosine performs different functions in the regulation of cardiopulmonary, renal, nervous, and gastrointestinal systems [Christofi et al. 2001, Riberio et al. 2003]. It also plays important roles in preventing and inducing apoptosis [Di Iorio et al. 2002]. Unlike other neurotransmitters, adenosine is not stored in synaptic vesicles but is released from cells in response to metabolic stress or after the breakdown of ATP, which is produced by both neuronal and non-neuronal cells [Ren et al. 2008, Abbracchio et al. 2006]. Under basal conditions, adenosine is nonspecifically released into the extracellular space by normal cells and neurons [Begg et. al 2002]. Hasko et al. reported that electrically induced longitudinal muscle preparations of the myenteric plexus release adenosine [Hasko et al. 2007] and that endogenous adenosine concentrations in the myenteric plexus of the gastrointestinal (GI) tract vary with pO_2 levels [Deshpande et al. 1999]. Dopamine is also an essential monoamine neurotransmitter abundantly found in the CNS and peripheral nervous system. It plays a major role in regulating emotion and cognition, pain, and reward system and in modulating GI motility [Nieoullon 2002, Wise 2004, Zhang et al. 2012, Carlino et al. 2016].

Endogenous adenosine and dopamine inhibit GABAergic neurons through A_{2A} and D_2 receptors, respectively [Hu et al. 1997, Jo et al. 1999, Sebastiao et al. 1996, Mayfield et al. 1994, Floran et al. 1997]. Although mechanisms underlying GABAergic signaling in the gut are unclear, recent data highlight the functional significance and effective role of enteric GABAergic signaling in motilin-induced gastric contractions. Mondal et al. showed that adenosine significantly suppressed ghrelin-induced contractions and did not inhibit motilin-induced contractions in the suncus stomach [Mondal et al. 2013]. Also, another study showed that dopamine D_2 receptor expressed by GABAergic neurons suppressed food intake and small intestinal transit [Kaneko et al. 2010]. These findings suggest that adenosine A_{2A} receptor and dopamine D_2 receptor play significant roles in regulating GABAergic signaling. Therefore, I investigated whether adenosine and/or dopamine can be used as substitutes for ghrelin and whether they can accelerate motilin-induced gastric contractions by inhibiting GABAergic pathway.

By using *S. murinus* as a model organism, I determined the synergistic effect of motilin and ghrelin on different stomach segments. In addition, I determined the involvement of adenosine and dopamine through the A_{2A} and D_2 receptors, respectively, on motilininduced contractions in different segments of the suncus stomach and in the whole stomach by using specific agonists of these receptors.

3.2 Materials and Methods

3.2.1. Ethical approval

All procedures used in this study were approved by and were performed in accordance with the Saitama University Committee on Animal Research. All efforts were taken to minimize animal suffering and to minimize the number of animals used in the study.

3.2.2. Animals

Experiments were conducted with female *S. murinus* (age, at least 15–20 weeks; weight, 50–75 g) obtained from an outbred KAT strain established from a wild population in Kathmandu, Nepal. The animals were housed individually in plastic cages equipped with an empty can as a nest box and were provided food (trout pellets; Nippon Formula Feed Manufacturing Co., Ltd., Yokohama, Japan) and water *ad libitum*. Metabolizable energy content of the pellets was 344 kcal·100 g⁻¹, with 54.1% protein content, 30.1% carbohydrate content, and 15.8% fat content. The animal room was maintained at a temperature of $21^{\circ}C-24^{\circ}C$ and 12-/12-h light/dark cycle (lights on from 8.00 to 20.00 h). The animals were fasted for 8 h and were decapitated after being deeply anesthetized with pentobarbital sodium (100 mg/kg IP). Their stomachs were removed immediately by performing midline incision and were used for performing molecular, morphological, and organ bath studies. In addition, the stomachs were sectioned into four segments, namely, the fundus, proximal corpus (including the cardia), distal corpus, and antrum, as described in Chapter 2.

3.2.3. RT-PCR

The dissected stomach segments were frozen in liquid nitrogen and were ground using CRYO PLUS (Microtech Co., Ltd., Chiba, Japan) before dipping in ISOGEN (Nippon Gene, Tokyo, Japan). Total RNA from the tissues was extracted using ISOGEN, according to the manufacturer's instructions. Trace DNA contamination was removed by treating the RNA with DNase (Promega, Madison, WI, USA). Next, 1 µg DNase-treated total RNA was reverse transcribed using Superscript[®] III Reverse Transcriptase (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) and random primers (#48190-011; Invitrogen). The following primers were used for performing **RT-PCR**: (1) sense (5'-CTTCCTCCCAAGTCCTGCTG -3') antisense (5'and CTTCCTCCCAAGTCCTGCTG-3') primers against the suncus ghrelin gene (fragment size, 165 bp) and (2) sense (5'-TGCGTGACATCAAGGAGAAG-3') and antisense (5'-GACAGCACTGTGTTGGCCATA-3') primers against the suncus β -actin gene (internal control; fragment size, 274 bp). PCR was performed using iCycler (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA).

3.2.4. Tissue preparation for morphological analysis

The stomach segments were immediately dissected, were opened along their longitudinal axes, and were immersed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 12 h. Tissues of different stomach segments were dehydrated in an ascending ethanol series, were immersed in xylene, and were embedded in paraplast (Oxford Labware, MO, USA). Next, tissue blocks produced were cut into 10-µm-thick sections by using a microtome and were mounted on slides coated with silane (Shin-Etsu Chemicals, Tokyo, Japan).

3.2.5. Immunohistochemical analysis

Immunohistochemical detection of ghrelin-immunopositive (ghrelin-ip) cells was performed using an anti-ghrelin serum (#603) and avidin-biotin-peroxidase complex (ABC) method. Production and specificity of the anti-ghrelin serum has been confirmed in previous studies [Date et al. 2000, Hosoda et al. 2000], which showed that the antighrelin serum recognizes the N-terminal region of rat ghrelin. The stomach sections were deparaffinized with xylene and were rehydrated using a descending ethanol series. The sections were treated with 0.5% sodium metaperiodate for 10 min at room temperature to block endogenous peroxidase activity and were washed with distilled water (DW). Next, the sections were treated with 1% sodium thiosulfate for 10 min. After washing with DW, the sections were incubated with a blocking reagent (TNBS) for 1 h. Next, the sections were incubated overnight in a humid chamber with the anti-ghrelin serum diluted to 1:100,000 in the blocking reagent. After washing with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), the sections were incubated for 1 h with biotin-conjugated anti-rabbit IgG serum (Vectastain ABC kit; Vector, Burlingame, CA, USA) diluted to 1:300 with the blocking reagent and were washed again with PBS. Next, the sections were incubated for 30 min with ABC solution (Vectastain ABC kit) prepared according to the manufacturer's instructions. After washing with PBS for 10 min, the sections were treated with 0.02% 3,3-diaminobenzidinetetrachloride (DAB) mixed with 0.006% hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) and 0.05 M Tris-HCl (pH 7.6) for 4–5 min to detect immunostaining. After washing with PBS and Millipore water, the sections were dehydrated using a graded ethanol series, cleared in xylene, mounted with Entellan (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany), and viewed under a light microscope (BX60; Olympus,

Tokyo, Japan). All the incubations were performed in a humid chamber at room temperature.

3.2.6. Morphometric analysis

Densities of ghrelin-ip cells in the different segments of the suncus stomach were estimated. Digital photographs were obtained using a light microscope equipped with a digital camera (DP70; Olympus). The number of ghrelin-ip cells in each section was counted, and the area of mucosal layer in each section was measured using a computerized image analysis program ImageJ (National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD). Density of ghrelin-ip cells was calculated as the number of immunopositive mucosal cells per unit area (cells/mm²). All data are expressed as mean ± SEM.

3.2.7. Preparation of the isolated S. murinus stomach

The stomachs were dissected after performing laparotomy and were immediately placed in freshly prepared Krebs' solution (118 mM NaCl, 4.75 mM KCl, 2.5 mM CaCl₂, 1.2 mM MgSO₄, 1.8 mM NaH₂PO₄, 25 mM NaHCO₃, and 11.5 mM glucose [pH 7.2–7.4]). Mesenteric attachments and fatty tissues were removed, and the insides of the stomachs were washed with Krebs' solution by creating a small incision in the fundus. Next, the stomachs were sectioned into four segments, i.e., the fundus, proximal corpus (including the cardia), distal corpus, and antrum. The gastroesophageal junction, i.e., the cardiac region, was included in the proximal corpus segment (criteria for dividing the stomach into segments and their preparation is mentioned in Chapter 2, section 2.2.4). The stomach segments were mounted in 10 ml water-jacketed organ baths, with an initially loaded with approximately 0.5 gwt. The temperature of the Krebs' solution was maintained at $37^{\circ}C \pm 0.5^{\circ}C$, and the solution was aerated continuously with a mixture of 95% O₂ and 5% CO₂.

3.2.8. Analysis of *in vitro* gastric contractions

Mechanical activity of the stomach segments was monitored with an isometric force transducer (UM-203; Iwashiya Kishimoto Medical Industrials, Kyoto, Japan) and PicoLog for Windows (Pico Technology Ltd., St Neots, UK). The initial load was set at 0.5 g for each preparation. Experiments were initiated after stabilization of contraction pattern for 45 min. To normalize gastric contractions, the organ bath was treated with 10⁻ ⁵ M acetylcholine (ACh) twice before cumulatively administering motilin and once at the end of the experiment. The percentage of maximal contractions was calculated by averaging tonic response induced by the three treatments with 10⁻⁵ M ACh. Contraction amplitude was expressed as a relative contraction (%) of ACh-induced response. In each case, ACh administration induced almost the same tonic GI contractions in each stomach segment. To examine the synergistic effect of motilin and ghrelin, each stomach segment was cumulatively treated with suncus ghrelin $(10^{-11}-10^{-7} \text{ M})$ with or without pretreatment with suncus motilin (10⁻¹⁰ M) for 30 s and responses induced were recorded. To elucidate mechanism underlying the cumulative effect of motilin and ghrelin, the stomach segments were pretreated with 10⁻⁶ M atropine for 30 min. To determine regulatory mechanism underlying the effect of motilin, the stomach segments were pretreated with D-Lys3-GHRP6 (a ghrelin receptor antagonist) 10 min before cumulatively administering motilin (10⁻¹¹–10⁻⁷ M). In addition, the stomach segments were treated

with 10⁻⁷ M adenosine (an adenosine receptor agonist) and 10⁻⁵ M 6-hydroxydopamine hydrochloride (a dopamine receptor agonist) 15 min before cumulatively administering motilin. The pH of the buffer was maintained between 7.2 and 7.4 before administering the drugs.

3.2.9. Drugs used

Administration volume of each drug was 1% of the bath volume. Atropine sulfate (Merck, USA), ACh, adenosine (a non-selective adenosine receptor agonist), 6-hydroxydopamine hydrochloride (a non-selective dopamine receptor agonist), PSB 0777 ammonium salt (an adenosine A_{2A} receptor agonist), B-HT 920 (a dopamine D₂ receptor agonist; Sigma-Aldrich Co. LLC., USA) were dissolved in DW. Synthetic *S. murinus* motilin (Bex, Tokyo, Japan), active human ghrelin (Asubio Pharma Co., Ltd. Hyogo, Japan), and D-Lys3-GHRP6 (ghrelin antagonist; Bachem, Torrance, CA, USA) were dissolved in 0.1% bovine serum albumin/PBS. Drug concentrations are expressed as final molar concentrations in the bath solution. Atropine sulfate was dissolved in DW before use. For each experiment, all the reagents were prepared according to the manufacturer's instructions.

3.2.10. Statistical analysis

Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM from at least four separate animals. Recording experiments were repeated individually at least three times, and similar results were obtained. The number of animals used for statistical analyses are mentioned in figure legends. Data were analyzed using GraphPad Prism 6 (GraphPad Software Inc., La Jolla,

CA, USA). Statistical analyses were performed using Student's *t*-test or two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test. p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

3.3 Results

3.3.1. Synergistic effect of motilin and ghrelin on the different segments of the suncus stomach

Stomach tissues were treated with 10^{-5} M ACh to stimulate the maximum contraction of smooth muscle cells. ACh induced strong contractions in all the stomach segments, with a maximum tension of approximately 2.2 gwt in the fundus (Fig. 7A [i]), 4.5 gwt in the proximal corpus (Fig. 7B [i]), 4.2 gwt in the distal corpus (Fig. 7C [i]), and 4.0 gwt in the antrum (Fig. 7D [i]). Cumulative administration of human ghrelin $(10^{-11}-10^{-7}$ M) did not induce contractions in any stomach segment (Fig. 7A–D [iii, iv]; Fig. 1F). Next, I investigated ghrelin-induced contractions in the stomach segments in the presence of low-dose motilin $(10^{-10}$ M). In the presence of 10^{-10} M motilin, ghrelin significantly induced contractions in both the fundus and proximal corpus (Fig 7A–B [ii, iv], 7E) in a dose-dependent manner but did not induce contractions in the distal corpus and antrum (Fig 7C–D [ii, iv], 7E).

3.3.2. Motilin and ghrelin synergistically induce gastric contractions through a cholinergic neural pathway

In the presence of low-dose motilin (10^{-10} M) , ghrelin $(10^{-11}-10^{-7} \text{ M})$ did not induce contractions in any stomach segment pretreated with atropine, a muscarinic receptor antagonist (Fig. 8A–E).

3.3.3. GHS-R mRNA expression in the different segments of the suncus stomach

mRNA transcripts of the GSHR were detected in all the four segments of the suncus stomach, i.e., the fundus, proximal corpus, distal corpus, and antrum (Fig. 9).

3.3.4. Localization of ghrelin-ip cells in the suncus stomach

Ghrelin-ip cells were detected in the mucosal layer of the fundus (Fig. 10A), proximal corpus (Fig. 10B), distal corpus (Fig. 10C), and antrum (Fig. 10D). The density of ghrelin-ip cells was the highest in the fundus (95.0 ± 7.6 cells/mm²) and proximal corpus (44.3 ± 4.7 cells/mm²) and was significantly different from that in the distal corpus (15.2 ± 0.8 cells/mm²) and antrum (12.5 ± 1.7 cells/mm²) (Fig. 10E).

3.3.5. Effect of D-Lys3-GHRP6 and GABA receptor antagonists on motilin-induced gastric contractions *in vitro*

In vitro organ bath experiments were performed to determine mechanisms underlying the effect of ghrelin on motilin-induced contractions in each segment of the suncus stomach. ACh response was obtained in all the dissected stomach segments (Fig. 11A– D [i]). Treatment with 10^{-9} M motilin induced strong contractions in the fundus, distal corpus, and antrum (Fig. 11A, C, D [ii, v]), whereas treatment with 10^{-10} M motilin induced contractions in the proximal corpus (Fig. 11B [ii, v]). In contrast, pretreatment with 10^{-5} M D-Lys3-GHRP6 almost completely inhibited motilin-induced contractions in all the stomach segments (Fig. 11A–D [iii, v]). However, pretreatment with bicuculline, a GABA_A receptor antagonist, almost completely reversed D-Lys3-GHRP6-induced inhibition of motilin-induced contractions. Treatment with phaclofen, a GABA_B receptor antagonist, also reversed D-Lys3-GHRP6-induced inhibition of motilin-induced gastric contractions, but, treatment with 10^{-9} M motilin induced contractions in the proximal corpus (Fig. 12B [iv, v]), and treatment with 10⁻⁸ M motilin induced contractions in the fundus, distal corpus, and antrum (Fig. 12A, C, D [iv, v]).

3.3.6. Effect of non-selective adenosine and dopamine receptor agonists on motilininduced gastric contractions

Cumulative administration of motilin $(10^{-11}-10^{-7} \text{ M})$ induced contractions in the whole stomach (Fig. 13 [ii, v]) as well as in all the stomach segments (Fig. 14; Fig. 15A–D [ii, v]) in a dose-dependent manner. Pretreatment with 10^{-5} M ghrelin antagonist D-Lys3-GHRP6 completely abolished these contractions (Fig. 13–15 A–D [iii, v]). To determine whether adenosine and dopamine regulated motilin-induced gastric contractions, the whole stomach tissue was simultaneously treated with 10^{-8} M adenosine, the adenosine receptor agonist, and 10^{-5} M 6-hydroxydopamine hydrochloride, the dopamine receptor agonist, for 30 min. Treatment with adenosine and 6-hydroxydopamine hydrochloride partially reversed D-Lys3-GHRP6-induced inhibition of motilin-induced contractions in the whole stomach (Fig. 13 [iv, v]). Next, the effects of adenosine and 6hydroxydopamine hydrochloride pretreatment on all the four segments of the suncus stomach were determined. Although individual pretreatment with these agonists recovered motilin-induced gastric contractions, the recovery was lower than that observed with simultaneous pretreatment with these agonists (Fig. 14; Fig. 15A–D [iv, v]).

3.3.7. Effect of adenosine A_{2A} receptor agonist and dopamine D₂ receptor agonist on motilin-induced gastric contractions

Next, effects of suspected candidate adenosine A_{2A} and dopamine D_2 receptors was examined after confirming the involvement of adenosine and dopamine. Individual pretreatment with adenosine A_{2A} receptor agonist PSB 0777-AS (10^{-6} M) and dopamine D_2 receptor agonist B-HT 920 (10^{-6} M) partially reversed D-Lys3-GHRP6-induced inhibition of motilin-induced contractions in all the stomach segments (Fig. 16; Fig. 17A–D [i–v]). Next, involvement of the A_{2A} and D_2 receptors was confirmed using the whole stomach tissue. Simultaneous pretreatment with adenosine A_{2A} receptor agonist PSB 0777-AS (10^{-6} M) and dopamine D_2 receptor agonist B-HT 920 (10^{-6} M) completely reversed ghrelin antagonist D-Lys3-GHRP6 (10^{-5} M)-induced inhibition of motilininduced contractions (Fig. 18 [i–v]).

3.4 Discussion

3.4.1 Role of ghrelin in the MMC

Results presented in Chapter 2 clearly showed that cumulative administration of motilin $(10^{-10}-10^{-7} \text{ M})$ induced contractions in all the segments of the suncus stomach in a dosedependent manner. In the present study, I observed that these stomach segments responded differently to simultaneous motilin and ghrelin treatment in vitro. It was also observed that 10⁻¹⁰ M motilin treatment is sufficient to induce contraction in proximal corpus but, 10⁻⁹ M motilin treatment is required to induce contractions in the fundus, distal corpus, and antrum. However, cumulative administration of ghrelin $(10^{-11}-10^{-7} \text{ M})$ induced contractions in the fundus and proximal corpus pretreated with a low dose (10⁻ ¹⁰ M) of motilin but not in the distal corpus and antrum, suggesting that administration of 10⁻⁹ M motilin with ghrelin was required to induce contractions in these stomach segments. Drug-mediated response is directly proportional to receptor concentration in the tissue. Thus, higher the receptor expression, higher the drug response in the tissue. Results of RT-PCR for the expression of motilin receptor GPR38 (presented in Chapter 2) indicated that this receptor was highly expressed in the proximal corpus. Results of the present study indicated that ghrelin receptor GHSR was also expressed in all the stomach segments. The density of ghrelin-ip cells was significantly high in the fundus, and proximal corpus, which may be the reason for the high sensitivity of these stomach segments to motilin and ghrelin Ghrelin-ip cells are present in the gastric mucosa, and the mucosa is inevitable for ghrelin-induced contractions in S. murinus stomach [Mondal et al. 2013].

3.4.2 Involvement of the GABAergic pathway in motilin-induced gastric contractions

I first examined the effect of D-Lys3-GHRP6 on motilin-induced gastric contractions and observed that blockade of the ghrelin receptor considerably inhibited motilin-induced contractions in all the stomach segments. These results indicate that motilin only induces strong phase III-like gastric contractions in the presence of ghrelin. Interestingly, I found that treatment with GABA antagonists reversed ghrelin antagonist-induced inhibition of motilin-induced gastric contractions. GABA_A receptor antagonist bicuculline reversed ghrelin antagonist-induced inhibition of motilin-induced contractions more strongly than $GABA_B$ receptor antagonist phaclofen in all the stomach segments, suggesting that inhibitory GABAergic neurons suppressed motilin-induced contractions in all the segments of the suncus stomach. Previous immunohistochemical studies have reported heterogeneous distribution of GABA_A and GABA_B receptors in the enteric nervous system (ENS), with these receptors being localized on both submucosal and myenteric neurons [Poulter et al. 1999, Casanova et al., 2009]. Activation of GABA_B receptors is mainly coupled with the presynaptic inhibition of voltage-dependent calcium channels, resulting in reduced ACh release from enteric neurons [Cherubini et al. 1984, Marcoli et al., 2000]. Conversely, activation of ionotropic GABAA receptors is usually associated with the stimulation of neurotransmitter release from cholinergic and NANC enteric neurons, resulting in contractile or relaxant response of GI smooth muscles [Zizzo et al. 2007, Frigo et al. 1987, Krantis et al. 1987, Kaputlu et al. 1996, Penchava 1997]. That is one possibility to explain that GABAA is more efficacious in motilin-induced contractions in all the segments of suncus stomach. In the ENS, GABAergic neurons strongly suppress motilin-induced smooth muscle contraction pathway. In contrast,

ghrelin stimulates this motilin pathway by inhibiting GABAergic neurons, which is consistent with the results obtained using the whole stomach of *S. murinus* [Kuroda et al. 2015].

3.4.3 Adenosine and dopamine are the key molecules for mediating motilin-induced gastric contractions

Results of the present study showed that both adenosine and dopamine agonists partially reversed ghrelin antagonist D-Lys3-GHRP6-induced inhibition of motilin-induced contractions in the whole stomach. Similar results were obtained when the different stomach segments were treated with adenosine or dopamine agonist alone. However, motilin-induced contractions were slightly stronger in stomach segments pretreated with the specific adenosine A_{2A} receptor agonist and dopamine D₂ receptor agonist than in stomach segments not pretreated with any selective agonist. Furthermore, pretreatment of the whole stomach with both the adenosine A_{2A} receptor agonist and dopamine D_2 receptor agonist almost completely reversed ghrelin antagonist D-Lys3-GHRP6-induced inhibition of motilin-induced contractions. These results suggest that both adenosine and dopamine partially suppress the inhibitory action of GABAergic neurons on the motilin pathway through the adenosine A_{2A} and dopamine D₂ receptors, thus promoting motilininduced contractions both in the whole stomach and different stomach segments. Endogenous adenosine and dopamine are the key modulators of GABAergic inhibition [Regan et al. 1992, Ferre et al. 1997, Seamans et al. 2001, Olianas et al., 1978]. Some studies have clearly shown adenosine A_{2A} and dopamine D₂ receptor expression on enteric GABAergic neurons [Christofi et al., 2001 and Li et al., 2006]. Moreover, some studies have shown that endogenous adenosine and dopamine inhibit GABA through the

 A_{2A} and D_2 receptors, respectively, in the myenteric plexus of the ENS [Sebastiao et al. 1996, Concas et al. 1993, Kaneko et al. 2010]. In the ENS of guinea pigs, adenosine acts as a presynaptic neuromodulator through the A_{2A} receptor to influence the release of excitatory neurotransmitter ACh [Gao et al. 2007, Christofi et al., 1993]. These findings clearly indicate that both adenosine and dopamine act through the A_{2A} and D_2 receptors, respectively, to promote GABA inhibition.

Adenosine is ubiquitously present in the synaptic and axonal regions of the ENS and CNS as a by-product of ATP consumption during various metabolic processes [Ren et al. 2008]. Dopamine is also an essential neurotransmitter secreted by almost all neurons of the ENS. Ghrelin receptors expressed on GABAergic and dopaminergic neurons are expected to stimulate dopamine secretion in the synaptic region [Naitou et al. 2016]. Results of the present study indicate that both adenosine and dopamine are the key driving forces of GABAergic pathway and regulate motilin-induced gastric contractions through the A_{2A} and D₂ receptors, respectively. However, these results have only been obtained by performing *in vitro* experiments. Therefore, it would be interesting to determine *in vivo* expression of adenosine and dopamine receptors in the stomach of *S. murinus*

4. Summary and Conclusion

Together, the results of this research indicate that the proximal corpus and cardia are important sites for motilin-induced contractions and show high mRNA expression of the motilin receptor GPR38. Treatment with 10⁻⁹ M motilin stimulates contractions in all the stomach segments. However, treatment with low motilin concentration (10⁻¹⁰ M) stimulates contractions only in the proximal corpus, suggesting that the MMC propagates from the proximal corpus to the distal region of the alimentary tract and that the proximal corpus is the first site of motilin-induced contractions.

A previous *in vivo* study showed that ghrelin is important for initiating phase III MMC contractions and that co-administration of motilin 10^{-10} M and ghrelin at concentrations ranging from 10^{-9} to 10^{-7} M induces a synergistic phasic response in prepared, isolated stomachs in a dose-dependent manner. The present *in vitro* study showed that ghrelin-induced contractions in the presence of motilin differed in different stomach segments and were mediated by the cholinergic neural pathway in the myenteric plexus. Treatment with 10^{-10} M motilin induced contractions only in the fundus and proximal corpus. The mRNA expression of ghrelin-receptor GHSR was detected in all the stomach segments. Moreover, the density of ghrelin-ip cells was significantly higher in the fundus and proximal corpus than in the other stomach segments. These results suggest that the fundus and proximal corpus (constituting the proximal stomach) are the most sensitive and responsive to motilin- and ghrelin-induced synergistic contractions. Moreover, results of the present study showed that pretreatment with the GABA_A antagonist bicuculline reversed ghrelin antagonist D-lys₃-GHRP₆-induced inhibition of motilin-induced gastric

contractions. Moreover, the $GABA_B$ antagonist phaclofen also reversed ghrelin antagonist D-lys₃-GHRP₆-induced inhibition of gastric contractions but less effectively than the $GABA_A$ antagonist bicuculline.

Adenosine and dopamine are well-known neurotransmitters and neuromodulators of the CNS and ENS. Several studies have shown that adenosine and dopamine regulate the inhibition of GABAergic neurons, which is the major turning point of this research. In addition to their numerous functions, adenosine and dopamine aid in modulating GI motility. Involvement of adenosine and dopamine in motilin-induced contractions was determined using the different stomach segments as well as the whole stomach. Results clearly showed that adenosine and dopamine partially reversed ghrelin antagonist-induced inhibition of motilin-induced contractions. Next, I examined the suspected receptor candidates adenosine A_{2A} receptor and dopamine D_2 receptor. Surprisingly, simultaneous pretreatment with the agonists of both these receptors almost completely recovered motilin-induced contractions in all the stomach segments as well as in the whole stomach, suggesting that adenosine and dopamine played key roles in motilin-induced gastric contractions in *S. murinus* through the A_{2A} and D_2 receptors, respectively.



5. Figures, Tables, and Annexure

Fig 1. Stomach segments used in the study

(A) Photograph showing the different stomach segments, namely, the fundus, proximal corpus, distal corpus, and antrum. (B) For the organ bath experiment, the stomachs were dissected into four segments: (i) fundus, (ii) proximal corpus (including the cardia), (iii) distal corpus, and (iv) antrum. The arrows indicate the cardia (gastroesophageal junction), cardiac notch, and angular notch. The arrowheads indicate the pylorus.



Fig 2. Motilin induced contractions in the different segments of the isolated stomach

ACh (10⁻⁵ M) was used to induce maximum contractions in the stomach tissue. ACh induced contractions in all the stomach segments, with a maximum tension of approximately 2.5 gwt in the fundus (A, left), 2.2 gwt in the proximal corpus (B, left), 5.0 gwt in the distal corpus (C, left), and 4.1 gwt in the antrum (D, left). Treatment with a low dose (10⁻¹⁰ M) of motilin induced contractions in the fundus (A, right) and proximal corpus (B, right), which showed 28% contraction, and in the distal corpus (C, right) and antrum (D, right). Contractile amplitudes were measured after serially treating the (A) fundus, (B) proximal corpus, (C) distal corpus, and (D) antrum with motilin (10⁻⁹–10⁻⁷ M). Treatment with 10⁻⁹ M motilin induced dose-dependent contractions in the (A) fundus, (B) proximal corpus, and (C) distal corpus. (D) In the antrum, contraction amplitude changed with an increase in motilin dose. The arrowhead indicates the timing of reagent administration; the number indicates drug concentration used (-logM).



Fig 3. Motilin induced contractions in the stomach segments

Contraction responses were calculated as percentage maximum contractions induced by 10^{-5} M ACh. Treatment with a low dose (10^{-10} M) of motilin induced significantly stronger concentration response in the proximal corpus than in the other stomach segments. Each histogram represents mean ± SEM values (n = 5). Different letters denote significant difference (P < 0.05) among groups.



Fig 4. Atropine inhibits motilin-induced contractions in the different stomach segments

Pretreatment with 10⁻⁶ M atropine almost completely inhibited 10⁻¹⁰–10⁻⁷ M motilininduced contractions in all the stomach segments, i.e., the fundus (A, left), proximal corpus (B, left), distal corpus (C, left), and antrum (D, left). Results obtained by performing motilin treatment in the presence of atropine are summarized in panel E. \checkmark Timing of reagent administration. The number indicates drug concentration (-logM). Each histogram represents mean ± SEM values (n = 4).


Fig 5. Tetrodotoxin inhibits motilin-induced contractions in the different stomach segments

Effects of tetrodotoxin (TTX) administration on contractions in all the stomach segments, i.e., the fundus (A, left), proximal corpus (B, left), distal corpus (C, left), and antrum (D, left). Pretreatment with 10^{-6} M TTX almost completely inhibited $10^{-10}-10^{-7}$ M motilin-induced contractions in all the stomach segments (A–D), with a slight reduction in contraction amplitude in the antrum (D). Results obtained by performing motilin treatment in the presence of TTX are summarized in panel E. $\mathbf{\nabla}$ Timing of reagent administration. The number indicates drug concentration (-logM). Each histogram represents mean ± SEM values (n = 4).



Fig 6. mRNA expression of the motilin receptor GPR38 in the suncus stomach

The mRNA expression level of the GPR38 was low in the mucosal layer and was high in the muscle layer. Moreover, the mRNA expression level differed among the muscle layer of different stomach segments, with the highest level being observed in the muscle layer of the proximal corpus and the lowest level being observed in the muscle layer of the antrum. Each histogram represents mean \pm SEM values (n = 6). Different letters denote significant difference (P < 0.05) among groups.



54

Fig 7. Motilin and ghrelin synergistically induce contractions in the different stomach segments

ACh response was assessed to determine the viability of the tissue in all the stomach segments, i.e., the fundus (A [i]), proximal corpus (B [i]), distal corpus (C [i]), and antrum (D [i]). The segments were pretreated with a low dose (10^{-10} M) of motilin for 30 s before cumulatively administering ghrelin $(10^{-11}-10^{-7} \text{ M})$ (A–D [ii]). In addition, contractions were measured in all the stomach segments not pretreated with motilin but cumulatively treated with ghrelin $(10^{-11}-10^{-7} \text{ M})$ (A–D [iii]). Concentration-response curve corresponding to percentage maximum contractions induced by ACh (10^{-5} M) is shown for all the stomach segments (A–D [iv]). Results of ghrelin treatment in the presence or absence of motilin pretreatment are summarized in panels E and F, respectively. Arrow represents the timing of reagent administration, and dotted arrow represents the timing of tissue washing. The number indicates drug concentration (-logM). Each value is expressed as mean ± SEM (n = 5). Contractions in the different segments of the suncus stomach were compared using two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test. ***p < 0.001 and ****p < 0.0001 indicate significant difference among groups.



Fig 8. Atropine inhibits motilin- and ghrelin-induced contractions in the different stomach segments

Pretreatment with 10^{-6} M atropine almost completely inhibited 10^{-10} M motilin- and 10^{-11} – 10^{-7} M ghrelin-induced contractions in all the stomach segments (A–D). Results of ghrelin and motilin treatment in the presence of atropine are summarized in panel E. Arrow represents the timing of reagent administration. The number indicates drug concentration (-logM). Each value is expressed as mean ± SEM (n = 4). Contractions in the different segments of the suncus stomach were compared using two-way ANOVA.



Fig 9. mRNA expression of the ghrelin receptor, GHSR

PCR products and specificity were confirmed by performing agarose gel electrophoresis on a 2% gel. The mRNA expression of the ghrelin receptor GHSR in all the stomach segments and the medulla oblongata (positive control). Distilled water (DW) was used as a negative control, and β -actin was used as an internal control.

A. Fundus



B. Proximal corpus











Fig 10. Microphotographs of ghrelin-immunopositive cells in the different stomach segments

Ghrelin-immunopositive (ghrelin-ip) cells in the (A) fundus, (B) proximal corpus, (C) distal corpus and (D) antrum were determined by performing immunohistochemical analysis. Insets show high magnification of ghrelin-ip cells. Ghrelin-ip cells are scattered in the epithelium of the mucosal layer of the suncus stomach. Bars in A–D correspond to 20 and 100 µm in the insets. (E) Histograms showing the densities (cells/mm²) of ghrelinin different stomach segments, determined by performing ip cells as immunohistochemical analysis. Arrowheads represent ghrelin-ip cells. Each value is expressed as mean \pm SEM (n = 4). Densities of ghrelin-ip cells in the different segments of the suncus stomach were compared using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test. ***p < 0.001 and ****p < 0.0001 indicate significant difference among groups.



Fig 11. *In vitro* bicuculline pretreatment shows that the ghrelin-mediated GABAergic pathway is involved in motilin-induced gastric contractions

ACh treatment of all the stomach segments (A–D [i]). Treatment with 10^{-11} – 10^{-7} M motilin induced gastric contractions in a dose-dependent manner (A–D [ii]). Pretreatment with the ghrelin antagonist D-Lys3-GHRP6 (10^{-5} M) completely inhibited motilin-

induced contractions in all the segments of the suncus stomach (A–D [iii]), which were completely reversed by pretreatment with 10⁻⁵ M bicuculline, a GABA_A antagonist (A– D [iv]). Concentration-response curve corresponding to percentage maximum contractions induced by 10⁻⁵ M ACh is shown for all the stomach segments (A–D [v]). Arrow represents the timing of reagent administration, and dotted arrow represents the timing of tissue washing. The number indicates drug concentration (-logM). Each value is expressed as mean \pm SEM (n = 4). Contractions in the different segments of the suncus stomach were compared using two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test. ***p < 0.001 and ****p < 0.0001 indicate significant difference among groups.



Fig 12. *In vitro* phaclofen pretreatment shows that the ghrelin-mediated GABAergic pathway is involved in motilin-induced gastric contractions

Concentration-response curve corresponding to percentage maximum contractions induced by 10^{-5} M ACh was constructed for all the stomach segments. Treatment with 10^{-11} – 10^{-7} M motilin induced contractions in the (A) fundus, (B) proximal corpus, (C) distal corpus, and (D) antrum in a dose-dependent manner. Pretreatment with the ghrelin

antagonist D-Lys3-GHRP6 (10⁻⁵ M) completely inhibited motilin-induced contractions in all the stomach segments, which were partially reversed by pretreatment with 10⁻⁵ M phaclofen, a GABA_B antagonist (A–D). Each value is expressed as mean \pm SEM (n = 4). Contractions in the different segments of the suncus stomach were compared using twoway ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test. **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, and ****p < 0.0001 indicate significant difference among groups.



Fig 13. Adenosine and dopamine promote motilin-induced contractions in the whole stomach through the ghrelin-mediated GABAergic pathway

ACh response (i). Pretreatment with 10^{-8} M adenosine, the adenosine receptor agonist, and 10^{-5} M 6-hydroxydopamine hydrochloride, the dopamine receptor agonist, partially reversed 10^{-5} M ghrelin antagonist D-lys3-GHRP6-induced inhibition (iii) of motilin-induced gastric contractions (ii, iv, v). Results are presented as a concentration-response curve corresponding to percentage maximum contractions induced by 10^{-5} M ACh (v). Arrow represents the timing of reagent administration, and dotted arrow represents the timing of tissue washing. The number indicates drug concentration (-logM). Each value is expressed as mean \pm SEM (n = 4). Contractions in the whole stomach were compared using two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test. ***p < 0.001 and ****p < 0.0001 indicate significant difference among groups.



Fig 14. Adenosine promotes motilin-induced gastric contractions through the ghrelin-mediated GABAergic pathway

Concentration-response curve corresponding to percentage maximum contraction induced by 10^{-5} M ACh in all the stomach segments. Treatment with 10^{-11} – 10^{-7} M motilin induced contractions in the (A) fundus, (B) proximal corpus, (C) distal corpus, and (D)

antrum in a dose-dependent manner. Pretreatment with the ghrelin antagonist D-Lys3-GHRP6 (10⁻⁵ M) completely inhibited motilin-induced gastric contractions, which were partially reversed by pretreatment with adenosine (10⁻⁸ M). Each value is expressed as mean \pm SEM (n = 4). Contractions in the different segments of the suncus stomach were compared using two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test. **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, and ****p < 0.0001 indicate significant difference among groups.



Fig 15. Dopamine promotes motilin-induced gastric contractions through the ghrelin-mediated GABAergic pathway

Concentration-response curve corresponding to percentage maximum contraction induced by 10^{-5} M ACh in all the stomach segments. Treatment with 10^{-11} – 10^{-7} M motilin induced contractions in the (A) fundus, (B) proximal corpus, (C) distal corpus, and (D)

antrum in a dose-dependent manner. Pretreatment with the ghrelin antagonist D-Lys3-GHRP6 (10⁻⁵ M) completely inhibited motilin-induced gastric contractions, which were partially reversed by pretreatment with dopamine (10⁻⁶ M). Each value is expressed as mean \pm SEM (n = 4). Contractions in the different segments of the suncus stomach were compared using two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test. **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, and ****p < 0.0001 indicate significant difference among groups.





Concentration-response curve corresponding to percentage maximum contraction induced by 10⁻⁵ M ACh in all the stomach segments. Treatment with 10⁻¹¹–10⁻⁷ M motilin induced contractions in the (A) fundus, (B) proximal corpus, (C) distal corpus, and (D) antrum in a dose-dependent manner. Pretreatment with the ghrelin antagonist D-Lys3-

GHRP6 (10⁻⁵ M) completely inhibited motilin-induced gastric contractions, which were reversed by pretreatment with the adenosine A_{2A} receptor agonist PSB 0777-AS (10⁻⁶ M). Each value is expressed as mean \pm SEM (n = 4). Contractions in the different segments of the suncus stomach were compared using two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, and ****p < 0.0001 indicate significant difference among groups.





Concentration-response curve corresponding to percentage maximum contraction induced by 10⁻⁵ M ACh in all the stomach segments. Treatment with 10⁻¹¹–10⁻⁷ M motilin induced contractions in the (A) fundus, (B) proximal corpus, (C) distal corpus, and (D) antrum in a dose-dependent manner. Pretreatment with the ghrelin antagonist D-Lys3-

GHRP6 (10⁻⁵ M) completely inhibited motilin-induced gastric contractions, which were reversed by pretreatment with the dopamine D₂ receptor agonist B-HT 920 (10⁻⁶ M). Each value is expressed as mean \pm SEM (n = 4). Contractions in the different segments of the suncus stomach were compared using two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, and ****p < 0.0001 indicate significant difference among groups.



Fig 18. Both adenosine A_{2A} receptor and dopamine D₂ receptor promote motilininduced contractions in the suncus stomach *in vitro* through the ghrelin-mediated GABAergic pathway

ACh response (i). Pretreatment with both PSB 0777-AS (10^{-6} M) and B-HT 920 (10^{-6} M) recovered motilin-induced gastric contractions (ii, iv, and v) abolished by treatment with the ghrelin antagonist D-lys3-GHRP6 (10^{-5} M) (iii). Results are represented as concentration-response curve corresponding to percentage maximum contractions induced by 10^{-5} M ACh (v). Arrow represents the timing of reagent administration, and dotted arrow represents the timing of tissue washing. The number indicates drug concentration (-logM). Each value is expressed as mean ± SEM (n = 4). Contractions in the whole stomach were compared using two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test. ****p < 0.0001 indicates significant difference among groups.

Table-1

Segments of stomach	EC 50 (nmol L ⁻¹) ± SE
Fundus	15.9 ± 9.2
Proximal corpus	0.9 ± 0.4
Distal corpus	9.6 ± 4.3
Antrum	314.7 ± 140.7
Antrum	9.6 ± 4.3 314.7 ± 140.7

Table-1 Comparison of contractile activity in the different stomach segments based on EC_{50} values of concentration-response curves of motilin.



Appendix-I

Appendix-1 Effect of low-dose motilin on the different segments of the suncus

stomach.



Appendix-II

Appendix-2 Organ bath system for monitoring GI contractions in S. murinus.

6. References

- Abbracchio MP, Burnstock G, Boeynaems JM, Barnard EA, Boyer JL, Kennedy C, Knight GE, Fumagalli M, Gachet C, Jacobson KA, Weisman GA (2006). International Union of Pharmacology LVIII: update on the P2Y G protein-coupled nucleotide receptors: from molecular mechanisms and pathophysiology to therapy. Pharmacol Rev. 2006 Sep;58(3):281-341. DOI: 10.1124/pr.58.3.3 PMID: 16968944
- Adachi H, Toda N, Hayashi S, Noguchi M, Suzuki T, Torizuka K, Yajima H, Koyama K (1981). Mechanism of the excitatory action of motilin on isolated rabbit intestine. Gastroenterol. 1981 Apr;80(4): 783-8. PMID: 7202949
- Aeberhard PF, Magnenat LD, Zimmermann WA (1980). Nervous control of migratory myoelectric complex of the small bowel. Am J Physiol. 1980 Feb;238(2): G102-8. PMID: 7361896
- Ariga H, Tsukamoto K, Chen C, Mantyh C, Pappas TN (2007). Endogenous acyl ghrelin is involved in mediating spontaneous phase III-like contractions of the rat stomach. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2007 Aug;19(8):675-80. PMID: 17640183
- Begg M, Dale N, Llaudet E, Molleman A, Parsons ME (2002). Modulation of the release of endogenous adenosine by cannabinoids in the myenteric plexuslongitudinal muscle preparation of the guinea-pig ileum. Br J Pharmacol. 2002 Dec;137(8):1298-304. DOI: 10.1038/sj.bjp.0704985 PMID: 12466239
- Broad J, Mukherjee S, Samadi M, Martin JE, Dukes GE, Sanger GJ (2012). Regional- and agonist-dependent facilitation of human neurogastrointestinal functions by motilin receptor agonists. Br J pharmacol. 2012 Oct;167(4):763-74. DOI:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2012.02009.x. PMID: 22537158

6 *References*

- Broad J, Takahashi N, Tajimi M, Sudo M, Goralczyk A, Parampalli U, Mannur K, Yamamoto T, Sanger GJ (2016). RQ-00201894: A motilin receptor agonist causing long-lasting facilitation of human gastric cholinergically-mediated contractions. J Pharmacol Sci. 2016 Feb;130(2):60-5. PMID: 26685754
- Brown JC, Cook MA, Dryburgh JR (1973). Motilin, a gastric motor activity stimulating polypeptide: the complete amino acid sequence. Can J Biochem. 1973 May;51(5):533-7. PMID: 4706833
- Brown JC, Mutt V, Dryburgh JR (1971). The further purification of motilin, a gastric motor activity stimulating polypeptide from the mucosa of the small intestine of hogs. Can J Physiol Pharmacol. 1971 May;49(5):399-405. PMID: 4941085
- 10. Carlino E, Benedetti F (2016). Different contexts, different pains, different experiences. Neurosci. 2016 Dec 3;338:19-26. DOI: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2016.01.053 PMID: 26827944
- Casanova E, Guetg N, Vigot R, Seddik R, Julio-Pieper M, Hyland NP, Cryan JF, Gassmann M, Bettler B (2009). A mouse model for visualization of GABA(B) receptors. Genes. 2009 Sep;47(9):595-602. DOI: 10.1002/dvg.20535. PMID: 19603512
- Charles FC, Marlett JA (1975). The interdigestive myo-electric complex of the stomach and small bowel of dogs. J Physiol. 1975 Mar;246(2):289-309. PMID: 1142245
- Cherubini E, North RA (1984). Inhibition of calcium spikes and transmitter release by gamma-aminobutyric acid in the guinea-pig myenteric plexus. Br J Pharmacol. 1984 May;82(1):101-5. PMID: 6145464
- 14. Christofi FL (2001). Unlocking mysteries of gut sensory transmission: is adenosine

79

the key? News Physiol Sci. 2001 Oct;16:201-7. PMID: 11572921

- Christofi FL, Wood JD (1993). Presynaptic inhibition by adenosine A1 receptors on guinea pig small intestinal myenteric neurons. Gastroenterol. 1993 May;104(5):1420-9. PMID: 8482452
- 16. Christofi FL, Zhang H, Yu JG, Guzman J, Xue J, Kim M, Wang YZ, Cooke HJ (2001). Differential gene expression of adenosine A1, A2a, A2b, and A3 receptors in the human enteric nervous system. J Comp Neurol. 2001 Oct 8;439(1):46-64. DOI: 10.1002/cne.1334 PMID: 11579381
- 17. Code CF (1979). The gastrointestinal interdigestive housekeeper of the gastrointestinal tract. Perspect Biol Med. 1979 Winter;22(2 Pt 2):S49-S55.
 PMID:461109
- Concas A, Santoro G, Mascia MP, Maciocco E, Dazzi L, Ongini E, Biggio G (1993). Anticonvulsant doses of 2-chloro-N6-cyclopentyladenosine, an adenosine A1 receptor agonist, reduce GABAergic transmission in different areas of the mouse brain. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 1993 Nov;267(2):844-51. PMID: 8246158
- Coulie B, Tack J, Peeters T, Janssens J (1998). Involvement of two different pathways in the motor effects of erythromycin on the gastric antrum in humans. Gut. 1998 Sep;43(3):395-400. PMID: 9863486
- Cummings DE, Purnell JQ, Frayo RS, Schmidova K, Wisse BE, Weigle DS (2001).
 A preprandial rise in plasma ghrelin levels suggests a role in meal initiation in humans. Diabetes. 2001 Aug;50(8):1714-9. PMID: 11473029
- Dass NB, Hill J, Muir A, Testa T, Wise A, Sanger GJ (2003). The rabbit motilin receptor: molecular characterisation and pharmacology. Br J Pharmacol. 2003 Nov;140(5):948-54. PMID: 14504130
- 22. Date Y, Kojima M, Hosoda H, Sawaguchi A, Mondal MS, Suganuma T, Matsukura

S, Kangawa K, Nakazato M (2000). Ghrelin, a novel growth hormone-releasing acylated peptide, is synthesized in a distinct endocrine cell type in the gastrointestinal tracts of rats and humans. Endocrinol. 2000 Nov;141(11):4255-61. DOI: 10.1210/endo.141.11.7757. PMID: 11089560

- 23. De Smet B, Mitselos A, Depoortere I (2009). Motilin and ghrelin as prokinetic drug targets. Pharmacol Ther. 2009 Aug;123(2):207-23. PMID: 19427331
- 24. Depoortere I, De Winter B, Thijs T, De Man J, Pelckmans P, Peeters T (2005). Comparison of the gastroprokinetic effects of ghrelin, GHRP-6 and motilin in rats in vivo and in vitro. Eur J Pharmacol. 2005 May 16;515(1-3):160-8. DOI: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2005.04.008. PMID: 15890336
- 25. Depoortere I, Macielag MJ, Galdes A, Peeters TL (1995). Antagonistic properties of [Phe3, Leu13] porcine motilin. Eur J Pharmacol. 1995 Nov 24;286(3):241-7. PMID: 8608785
- 26. Depoortere I, Thijs T, Thielemans L, Robberecht P, Peeters TL (2003). Interaction of the growth hormone-releasing peptides ghrelin and growth hormone-releasing peptide-6 with the motilin receptor in the rabbit gastric antrum. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2003 May;305(2):660-7. PMID: 12606621
- Deshpande NA, McDonald TJ, Cook MA (1999). Endogenous interstitial adenosine in isolated myenteric neural networks varies inversely with prevailing PO2. Am J Physiol. 1999 Apr;276(4 Pt 1):G875-85. PMID: 10198330
- 28. Di Iorio P, Kleywegt S, Ciccarelli R, Traversa U, Andrew CM, Crocker CE, Werstiuk ES, Rathbone MP (2002). Mechanisms of apoptosis induced by purine nucleosides in astrocytes. Glia. 2002 May;38(3):179-90. DOI: 10.1002/glia.10055 PMID: 11968056
- 29. Dryburgh JR, Brown JC (1975). Radioimmunoassay for motilin. Gastroenterol.

1975 May;68(5 Pt 1):1169-76. PMID: 1126596

- Duxbury MS, Waseem T, Ito H, Robinson MK, Zinner MJ, Ashley SW, Whang EE (2003). Ghrelin promotes pancreatic adenocarcinoma cellular proliferation and invasiveness. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2003 Sep 19;309(2):464-8. PMID: 12951072
- Engler RL (1991). Adenosine. The signal of life? Circ. 1991 Aug 1;84(2):951-4.
 DOI: 10.1161/01.CIR.84.2.951
- 32. Feighner SD, Tan CP, McKee KK, Palyha OC, Hreniuk DL, Pong SS, Austin CP, Figueroa D, MacNeil D, Cascieri MA, Nargund R, Bakshi R, Abramovitz M, Stocco R, Kargman S, O'Neill G, Van Der Ploeg LH, Evans J, Patchett AA, Smith RG, Howard AD (1999). Receptor for motilin identified in the human gastrointestinal system. Sci. 1999 Jun 25;284(5423):2184-8. PMID: 10381885
- 33. Ferré S, Fredholm BB, Morelli M, Popoli P, Fuxe K (1997). Adenosine-dopamine receptor-receptor interactions as an integrative mechanism in the basal ganglia. Trends Neurosci. 1997 Oct;20(10):482-7. PMID: 9347617
- 34. Ferré S, O'Connor WT, Fuxe K, Ungerstedt U (1993). The striopallidal neuron: a main locus for adenosine-dopamine interactions in the brain. J Neurosci. 1993 Dec;13(12):5402-6. PMID: 8254382
- 35. Floran B, Floran L, Sierra A, Aceves J (1997). D2 receptor-mediated inhibition of GABA release by endogenous dopamine in the rat globus pallidus. Neurosci Lett. 1997 Nov 14;237(1):1-4. PMID: 9406865
- 36. Frigo GM, Galli A, Lecchini S, Marcoli M (1987). A facilitatory effect of bicuculline on the enteric neurones in the guinea-pig isolated colon. Br J Pharmacol. 1987 Jan;90(1):31-41. PMID: 3028560
- 37. Fukumoto K, Nakahara K, Katayama T, Miyazatao M, Kangawa K, Murakami N

(2008). Synergistic action of gastrin and ghrelin on gastric acid secretion in rats.Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2008 Sep 12;374(1):60-3. PMID: 18611393

- 38. Fuxe K, Agnati LF, Jacobsen K, Hillion J, Canals M, Torvinen M, Tinner-Staines B, Staines W, Rosin D, Terasmaa A, Popoli P, Leo G, Vergoni V, Lluis C, Ciruela F, Franco R, Ferré S (2003). Receptor heteromerization in adenosine A2A receptor signaling: relevance for striatal function and Parkinson's disease. Neurol. 2003 Dec 9;61(11 Suppl 6):S19-23. PMID: 14663004
- 39. Gao N, Hu HZ, Liu S, Gao C, Xia Y, Wood JD (2007). Stimulation of adenosine A1 and A2A receptors by AMP in the submucosal plexus of guinea pig small intestine. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2007 Feb;292(2): G492-500. DOI: 10.1152/ajpgi.00257.2006. PMID: 17023550
- 40. Hakim NS, Soper NJ, Spencer MP, Sarr MG (1989). Role of extrinsic and intrinsic nerves in hormonal induction of the migrating motor complex in the jejunum. J Invest Surg. 1989;2(4):437-46. PMID: 2488008
- 41. Hall KE, El-Sharkawy TY, Diamant NE (1986). Vagal control of canine postprandial upper gastrointestinal motility. Am J Physiol. 1986 Apr;250(4 Pt 1): G501-10. PMID: 3963195
- 42. Hall KE, Greenberg GR, El-Sharkawy TY, and Diamant NE (1983). Vagal control of migrating motor complex-related peaks in canine plasma motilin, pancreatic polypeptide, and gastrin. Can J Physiol Pharmacol. 1983 Nov;61(11):1289-98. PMID: 6661684
- Harvey RF (1975). Hormonal control of gastrointestinal motility. Am J Dig Dis. 1975 Jun;20(6):523-39. PMID: 1130378
- 44. Haskó G, Pacher P, Deitch EA, Vizi ES (2007). Shaping of monocyte and macrophage function by adenosine receptors. Pharmacol Ther. 2007

6 *References*

Feb;113(2):264-75. DOI: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2006.08.003 PMID: 17056121

- 45. He J, Irwin DM, Chen R, Zhang YP (2010). Stepwise loss of motilin and its specific receptor genes in rodents. J Mol Endocrinol. 2010 Jan;44(1):37-44. PMID: 19696113
- 46. Hosoda H, Kojima M, Matsuo H, Kangawa K (2000). Ghrelin and des-acyl ghrelin: two major forms of rat ghrelin peptide in gastrointestinal tissue. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2000 Dec 29;279(3):909-13. DOI: 10.1006/bbrc.2000.4039. PMID: 11162448
- 47. Howard AD, Feighner SD, Cully DF, Arena JP, Liberator PA, Rosenblum CI, Hamelin M, Hreniuk DL, Palyha OC, Anderson J, Paress PS, Diaz C, Chou M, Liu KK, McKee KK, Pong SS, Chaung LY, Elbrecht A, Dashkevicz M, Heavens R, Rigby M, Sirinathsinghji DJ, Dean DC, Melillo DG, Patchett AA, Nargund R, Griffin PR, DeMartino JA, Gupta SK, Schaeffer JM, Smith RG, Van der Ploeg LH (1996). A receptor in pituitary and hypothalamus that functions in growth hormone release. Sci. 1996 Aug 16;273(5277):974-7. PMID: 8688086
- Hu HZ, Li ZW (1997). Modulation by adenosine of GABA-activated current in rat dorsal root ganglion neurons. J Physiol. 1997 May 15;501 (Pt 1):67-75. PMID: 9174995
- 49. Husebye E (1999). The patterns of small bowel motility: physiology and implications in organic disease and functional disorders. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 1999 Jun;11(3):141-61. PMID: 10354340
- 50. Ishida Y, Sakahara S, Tsutsui C, Kaiya H, Sakata I, Oda S, Sakai T (2009). Identification of ghrelin in the house musk shrew (Suncus murinus): cDNA cloning, peptide purification, and tissue distribution. Pept. 2009 May;30(5):982-90. PMID: 19428777

- 51. Ito H, Nishibayashi M, Kawabata K, Maeda S, Seki M, Ebukuro S (2002). Immunohistochemical demonstration of c-fos protein in neurons of the medulla oblongata of the musk shrew (Suncus murinus) after veratrine administration. Exp Anim. 2002 Jan;51(1):19-25. PMID: 11871148
- 52. Ito H, Nishibayashi M, Kawabata K, Maeda S, Seki M, Ebukuro S (2003). Induction of Fos protein in neurons in the medulla oblongata after motion- and X-irradiation-induced emesis in musk shrews (Suncus murinus). Auton Neurosci. 2003 Aug 29;107(1):1-8. PMID: 12927221
- 53. Ito H, Nishibayashi M, Maeda S, Seki M, Ebukuro S (2005). Emetic responses and neural activity in young musk shrews during the breast-feeding/weaning period: comparison between the high and low emetic response strains using a shaking stimulus. Exp Anim. 2005 Jul;54(4):301-7. PMID: 16093643
- 54. Itoh Z (1997). Motilin and clinical application. Pept. 1997;18(4):593-608. PMID: 9210180
- 55. Itoh Z, Honda R, Hiwatashi K, Takeuchi S, Aizawa I, Takayanagi R, Couch EF (1976). Motilin-induced mechanical activity in the canine alimentary tract. Scand J Gastroenterol Suppl. 1976;39:93-110. PMID: 1069368
- Itoh Z, Sekiguchi T (1983). Interdigestive motor activity in health and disease. Scand J Gastroenterol Suppl. 1983;82:121-34. PMID: 6579625
- 57. Itoh Z, Takeuchi S, Aizawa I, Mori K, Taminato T, Seino Y, Imura H, Yanaihara N (1978). Changes in plasma motilin concentration and gastrointestinal contractile activity in conscious dogs. Am J Dig Dis. 1978 Oct;23(10):929-35. PMID: 717352
- 58. Janssens J, Vantrappen G, Peeters TL (1983). The activity front of the migrating motor complex of the human stomach but not of the small intestine is motilin-dependent. Regul Pept. 1983 Aug;6(4):363-9. PMID: 6635258

- 59. Jarvie EM, North Laidler VJ, Corcoran S, Bassil A, Sanger GJ (2007). Differences between the abilities of tegaserod and motilin receptor agonists to stimulate gastric motility in vitro. Br J Pharmacol. 2007 Feb;150(4):455-62. PMID: 17211452
- Jo YH, Schlichter R (1999). Synaptic corelease of ATP and GABA in cultured spinal neurons. Nat Neurosci. 1999 Mar;2(3):241-5. DOI: 10.1038/6344. PMID: 10195216
- Kanamori Y, Nakazawa S, Kitoh J, Hoshino M (1989). The distribution of endocrine cells in the mucosa of the gastrointestinal tract of the house musk shrew, Suncus murinus (Insectivora). Cell Tissue Res. 1989 Nov;258(2):365-71. PMID: 2582480.
- 62. Kaneko K, Iwasaki M, Yoshikawa M, Ohinata K (2010). Orally administered soymorphins, soy-derived opioid peptides, suppress feeding and intestinal transit via gut μ(1)-receptor coupled to 5-HT(1A), D(2), and GABA(B) systems. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2010 Sep;299(3): G799-805. DOI: 10.1152/ajpgi.00081.2010. PMID: 20616303
- 63. Kaputlu I, Sadan G (1996). Evidence that nitric oxide mediates non-adrenergic noncholinergic relaxation induced by GABA and electrical stimulation in the rat isolated duodenum. J Auton Pharmacol. 1996 Aug;16(4):177-82. PMID: 8953371
- 64. Kellow JE, Borody TJ, Phillips SF, Tucker RL, Haddad AC (1986). Human interdigestive motility: variations in patterns from esophagus to colon. Gastroenterol. 1986 Aug;91(2):386-95. PMID: 3721125
- 65. Kerlin P, Zinsmeister A, Phillips S (1982). Relationship of motility to flow of contents in the human small intestine. Gastroenterol. 1982 Apr;82(4): 701-6.
 PMID: 7060888.
- 66. Kitazawa T, Ichikawa S, Yokoyama T, Ishii A, Shuto K (1994). Stimulating action
of KW-5139 (Leu13-motilin) on gastrointestinal motility in the rabbit. Br J Pharmacol. 1994 Jan;111(1):288-94. PMID: 8012708

- 67. Kitazawa T, Taneike T, Ohga A (1995). Excitatory action of [Leu13] motilin on the gastrointestinal smooth muscle isolated from the chicken. Pept. 1995;16(7):1243-52.
 PMID: 8545245.
- Kitazawa T, Taneike T, Ohga A (1997). Functional characterization of neural and smooth muscle motilin receptors in the chicken proventriculus and ileum. Regul Pept. 1997 Aug 15;71(2):87-95. PMID: 9416990
- Kojima M, Hosoda H, Date Y, Nakazato M, Matsuo H, Kangawa K (1999). Ghrelin is a growth-hormone-releasing acylated peptide from stomach. Nat. 1999 Dec 9;402(6762):656-60. PMID: 10604470
- 70. Kuroda K, Hequing H, Mondal A, Yoshimura M, Ito K, Mikami T, Takemi S, Jogahara T, Sakata I, Sakai T (2015). Ghrelin Is an Essential Factor for Motilin-Induced Gastric Contraction in Suncus murinus. Endocrinol. 2015 Dec;156(12):4437-47. PMID: 26441238
- 71. Kuromaru M Nishida T, Mochizuki K (1980). Morphological Study on the Intestine of the Musk Shrew, Suncus murinus. Nihon Juigaku Zasshi. 1980 Jan;42(1):61-67,71. DOI: 10.1292/jvms1939.42.61
- 72. Krantis A, Harding RK (1987). GABA-related actions in isolated in vitro preparations of the rat small intestine. Eur J Pharmacol. 1987 Sep 11;141(2):291-8.PMID: 2824220
- Lee KY, Chang TM, Chey WY (1983). Effect of rabbit antimotilin serum on myoelectric activity and plasma motilin concentration in fasting dog. Am J Physiol. 1983 Oct;245(4):G547-53. PMID: 6624921.
- 74. Lee KY, Chey WY, Tai HH, Yajima H (1978). Radioimmunoassay of motilin.

Validation and studies on the relationship between plasma motilin and interdigestive myoelectric activity of the duodenum of dog. Am J Dig Dis. 1978 Sep;23(9):789-95. PMID: 707450.

- 75. Li ZS, Schmauss C, Cuenca A, Ratcliffe E, Gershon MD (2006). Physiological modulation of intestinal motility by enteric dopaminergic neurons and the D2 receptor: analysis of dopamine receptor expression, location, development, and function in wild-type and knock-out mice. Neurosci. 2006 Mar 8;26(10):2798-807. DOI: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4720-05.2006 PMID: 16525059
- 76. Maccarinelli G, Sibilia V, Torsello A, Raimondo F, Pitto M, Giustina A, Netti C, Cocchi D (2005). Ghrelin regulates proliferation and differentiation of osteoblastic cells. J Endocrinol. 2005 Jan;184(1):249-56. PMID: 15642801
- 77. Marcoli M, Scarrone S, Maura G, Bonanno G, Raiteri M (2000). A subtype of the gamma-aminobutyric acid(B) receptor regulates cholinergic twitch response in the guinea pig ileum. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2000 Apr;293(1):42-7. PMID: 10734151
- 78. Masuda Y, Tanaka T, Inomata N, Ohnuma N, Tanaka S, Itoh Z, Hosoda H, Kojima M, Kangawa K (2000). Ghrelin stimulates gastric acid secretion and motility in rats.
 Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2000 Oct 5;276(3):905-8. DOI: 10.1006/bbrc.2000.3568 PMID: 11027567
- 79. Matsuki N (1996). Mechanisms of cytotoxic drug-induced emesis and its prevention. Yakugaku Zasshi. 1996 Sep;116(9):710-8. PMID: 8855716
- 80. Mayfield RD, Orona RA, Zahniser NR (1994). Modulation of endogenous GABA release from discrete regions of rat basal ganglia by adenosine A_{2A} and dopamine D₂ receptors. Prog Neurobiol. 1996 Feb;48(3):167-89. PMID: 8735876
- 81. McKee KK, Tan CP, Palyha OC, Liu J, Feighner SD, Hreniuk DL, Smith RG, Howard AD, Van der Ploeg LH (1997). Cloning and characterization of two human

G protein-coupled receptor genes (GPR38 and GPR39) related to the growth hormone secretagogue and neurotensin receptors. Genom. 1997 Dec 15;46(3):426-34. PMID: 9441746

- 82. Mizumoto A, Sano I, Matsunaga Y, Yamamoto O, Itoh Z, Ohshima K (1993).
 Mechanism of motilin-induced contractions in isolated perfused canine stomach.
 Gastroenterol. 1993 Aug;105(2):425-32. PMID: 8335198
- 83. Mondal A, Aizawa S, Sakata I, Goswami C, Oda S, Sakai T (2013). Mechanism of ghrelin-induced gastric contractions in Suncus murinus (house musk shrew): involvement of intrinsic primary afferent neurons. PLoS One 2013;8(4): e60365. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0060365. PMID: 23565235
- Mondal A, Kawamoto Y, Yanaka T, Tsutsui C, Sakata I, Oda SI, Tanaka T, and Sakai T. (2011). Myenteric neural network activated by motilin in the stomach of Suncus murinus (house musk shrew). Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2011 Dec;23(12):1123-31. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2982.2011.01801.x PMID: 22029733
- 85. Mondal A, Xie Z, Miyano Y, Tsutsui C, Sakata I, Kawamoto Y, Aizawa S, Tanaka T, Oda S, Sakai T (2012). Coordination of motilin and ghrelin regulates the migrating motor complex of gastrointestinal motility in Suncus murinus. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2012 May 15;302(10):G1207-15. DOI: 10.1152/ajpgi.00379.2011 PMID: 22383491.
- 86. Murphy WJ, Pringle TH, Crider TA, Springer MS, Miller W (2007). Using genomic data to unravel the root of the placental mammal phylogeny. Genom Res. 2007 Apr;17(4):413-21. PMID: 17322288
- 87. Naitou K, Nakamori H, Shiina T, Ikeda A, Nozue Y, Sano Y, Yokoyama T, Yamamoto Y, Yamada A, Akimoto N, Furue H, Shimizu Y (2016). Stimulation of dopamine D2-like receptors in the lumbosacral defaecation centre causes

propulsive colorectal contractions in rats. J Physiol. 2016 Aug 1;594(15):4339-50. DOI: 10.1113/JP272073 PMID: 26999074

- 88. Nakamura T, Onaga T, Kitazawa T (2010). Ghrelin stimulates gastric motility of the guinea pig through activation of a capsaicin-sensitive neural pathway: in vivo and in vitro functional studies. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2010 Apr;22(4):446-52. PMID: 19840269
- Nakazato M, Murakami N, Date Y, Kojima M, Matsuo H, Kangawa K, Matsukura S (2001). A role for ghrelin in the central regulation of feeding. Nat. 2001 Jan 11;409(6817):194-8. PMID: 11196643
- 90. Näslund E, Backman L, Theodorsson E, Hellström PM (1998). Intraduodenal neuropeptide levels, but not plasma levels, vary in a cyclic fashion with the migrating motor complex. Acta Physiol Scand. 1998 Nov;164(3):317-23. PMID: 9853020
- Newby AC (1984). Adenosine and the concept of 'retaliatory metabolites.' Trends Biochem Sci. 1984 Feb;9(2):42-4. DOI: 10.1016/0968-0004(84)90176-2
- Nieoullon A (2002). Dopamine and the regulation of cognition and attention. Prog Neurobiol. 2002 May;67(1):53-83. PMID: 12126656
- 93. Nieuwenhuijs VB, Verheem A, Van H, Visser M R, Verhoef J, Gooszen HG, Akkermans LM (1998). The role of interdigestive small bowel motility in the regulation of gut microflora, bacterial overgrowth, and bacterial translocation in rats. Ann Surg. 1998 Aug;228(2):188-93. PMID: 9712563
- 94. O'Regan MH, Simpson RE, Perkins LM, Phillis JW (1992). Adenosine receptor agonists inhibit the release of gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) from the ischemic rat cerebral cortex. Brain Res. 1992 Jun 5;582(1):22-6. PMID: 1498681
- 95. Ohno T, Kamiyama Y, Aihara R, Nakabayashi T, Mochiki E, Asao T, Kuwano H

(2006). Ghrelin does not stimulate gastrointestinal motility and gastric emptying: an experimental study of conscious dogs. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2006 Feb;18(2):129-35. PMID: 16420291

- 96. Ohno T, Mochiki E, Kuwano H (2010). The roles of motilin and ghrelin in gastrointestinal motility. Int J Pept. 2010;2010. pii: 820794. DOI: 10.1155/2010/820794 PMID: 20798893
- 97. Ohshiro H, Nonaka M, Ichikawa K (2008). Molecular identification and characterization of the dog motilin receptor. Regul Pept. 2008 Feb 7;146(1-3):80-7. DOI: 10.1016/j.regpep.2007.08.012. PMID: 17870192
- 98. Okumura H, Nagaya N, Enomoto M, Nakagawa E, Oya H, Kangawa K (2002). Vasodilatory effect of ghrelin, an endogenous peptide from the stomach. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. 2002 Jun;39(6):779-83. PMID: 12021570
- 99. Olianas MC, De Montis GM, Mulas G, Tagliamonte A (1978). The striatal dopaminergic function is mediated by the inhibition of a nigral, non-dopaminergic neuronal system via a strio-nigral GABAergic pathway. Eur J Pharmacol. 1978 Jun 1;49(3):233-41. PMID: 566207
- 100. Ormsbee HS 3rd, Telford GL, Mason GR (1979). Required neural involvement in control of canine migrating motor complex. Am J Physiol. 1979 Nov;237(5): E451-6. PMID: 495747
- 101. Ozaki K, Onoma M, Muramatsu H, Sudo H, Yoshida S, Shiokawa R, Yogo K, Kamei K, Cynshi O, Kuromaru O, Peeters TL, Takanashi H (2009). An orally active motilin receptor antagonist, MA-2029, inhibits motilin-induced gastrointestinal motility, increase in fundic tone, and diarrhea in conscious dogs without affecting gastric emptying. Eur J Pharmacol. 2009 Aug 1;615(1-3):185-92. DOI: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2009.04.059. PMID: 19445919.

- 102. Pearse AG, Polak JM, Bloom SR, Adams C, Dryburgh JR, Brown JC (1974).Enterochromaffin cells of the mammalian small intestine as the source of motilin.Virchows Arch B Cell Pathol. 1974;16(2):111-20. PMID: 4216138
- 103. Peeters TL (2005) Ghrelin: a new player in the control of gastrointestinal functions. Gut. 2005 Nov;54(11):1638-49. PMID: 16227363
- 104. Peeters TL, Aerssens J, De smet B, Mitselos A, Thielemans L, Coulie B, Depoortere I (2004). The mouse is a natural motilin knockout and ghrelin replaces motilin functionally. Neurogastroenterol and motil: the official journal of the European Gastrointestinal Motility Society 16:687.
- 105. Pencheva N (1997). Dependence of gamma-aminobutyric acid modulation of cholinergic transmission on nitric oxide and purines in cat terminal ileum. Eur J Pharmacol. 1997 Nov 27;339(2-3):193-200. PMID: 9473135
- 106. Perboni S, Inui A (2010). Appetite and gastrointestinal motility: role of ghrelin-family peptides. Clin Nutr. 2010 Apr;29(2):227-34. DOI: 10.1016/j.clnu.2008.10.016 PMID: 19945199
- 107. Perez-Tilve D, Heppner K, Kirchner H, Lockie SH, Woods SC, Smiley DL, Tschöp M, Pfluger P (2011). Ghrelin-induced adiposity is independent of orexigenic effects. FASEB J. 2011 Aug;25(8):2814-22. DOI: 10.1096/fj.11-183632 PMID: 21543764
- 108. Pimentel M, Soffer EE, Chow EJ, Kong Y, Lin HC (2002). Lower frequency of MMC is found in IBS subjects with abnormal lactulose breath test, suggesting bacterial overgrowth. Dig Dis Sci. 2002 Dec;47(12):2639-43. PMID: 12498278
- 109. Poulter MO, Singhal R, Brown LA, Krantis A (1999). GABA(A) receptor subunit messenger RNA expression in the enteric nervous system of the rat: implications for functional diversity of enteric GABA(A) receptors. Neurosci. 1999;93(3):1159-

65. PMID: 10473280

- 110. Ren J, Bertrand PP (2008). Purinergic receptors and synaptic transmission in enteric neurons. Purinergic Signal. 2008 Sep;4(3):255-66. DOI: 10.1007/s11302-007-9088-5 PMID: 18368519
- 111. Ribeiro JA, Sebastião AM, de Mendonça A (2002). Adenosine receptors in the nervous system: pathophysiological implications. Prog Neurobiol. 2002 Dec;68(6):377-92. PMID: 12576292
- 112. Romański KW (2009). Migrating motor complex in biological sciences: characterization, animal models, and disturbances. Indian J Exp Biol. 2009 Apr;47(4):229-44. PMID: 19382718
- 113. Sakahara S, Xie Z, Koike K, Hoshino S, Sakata I, Oda S, Takahashi T, Sakai T (2010). Physiological characteristics of gastric contractions and circadian gastric motility in the free- moving conscious house musk shrew (Suncus murinus). Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2010 Oct;299(4):R1106-13. DOI: 10.1152/ajpregu.00278.2010 PMID: 20686171
- 114. Sallam HS, Chen JD (2010). The prokinetic face of ghrelin. Int J Pept. pii: 493614.DOI: 10.1155/2010/493614. PMID: 20721347
- 115. Sanger GJ, Hellstrom PM, Naslund E (2010). The hungry stomach: physiology, disease, and drug development opportunities. Front Pharmacol. 2011 Feb 18;1:145. DOI: 10.3389/fphar.2010.00145. PMID: 21927604
- 116. Sanger GJ (2012). Motilin receptor neuropharmacology: revised understanding.
 Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2012 Dec;12(6):641-6. DOI: 10.1016/j.coph.2012.07.012
 PMID: 22858405
- 117. Sarna S, Chey WY, Condon RE, Dodds WJ, Myers T, Chang TM (1983). Causeand-effect relationship between motilin and migrating myoelectric complexes. Am

J Physiol. 1983 Aug;245(2):G277-84. PMID: 6192727

- 118. Sarna SK (1985). Cyclic motor activity; migrating motor complex. Gastroenterol.1985 Oct;89(4):894-913. PMID: 3896912
- 119. Seamans JK, Gorelova N, Durstewitz D, Yang CR (2001). Bidirectional dopamine modulation of GABAergic inhibition in prefrontal cortical pyramidal neurons. J Neurosci. 2001 May 15;21(10):3628-38. PMID: 11331392
- Sebastião AM, Ribeiro JA (1996). Adenosine A2 receptor-mediated excitatory actions on the nervous system. Prog Neurobiol. 1996 Feb;48(3):167-89. PMID: 8735876
- 121. Seoane LM, Tovar S, Baldelli R, Arvat E, Ghigo E, Casanueva FF, Dieguez C (2000). Ghrelin elicits a marked stimulatory effect on GH secretion in freely-moving rats. Eur J Endocrinol. 2000 Nov;143(5):R7-9. PMID: 11078999
- 122. Shim SG, Rhee JC, Rhee PL, Choi KW, Jeon SK, Kang TM, Uhm DY, Lee JS, Sung IK, Kim HS (2002). Mechanisms of Motilin Action on Smooth Muscle of the Human Stomach. Korean J Gastroenterol. 2002 Jan;39(1):4-12.
- Strunz U, Domschke W, Mitznegg P, Domschke S, Schubert E, Wunsch E, Jaeger E, and Demling L (1975). Analysis of the motor effects of 13-norleucine motilin on the rabbit, guinea pig, rat, and human alimentary tract in vitro. Gastroenterol. 1975 Jun;68(6):1485-91. PMID: 1132629
- 124. Sudo H, Yoshida S, Ozaki K, Muramatsu H, Onoma M, Yogo K, Kamei K, Cynshi O, Kuromaru O, Peeters TL, Takanashi H (2007). Oral administration of MA-2029, a novel selective and competitive motilin receptor antagonist, inhibits motilin-induced intestinal contractions and visceral pain in rabbits. Eur J Pharmacol. 2008 Mar 10;581(3):296-305. DOI: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2007.11.049 PMID: 18164286

- 125. Suzuki A, Ishida Y, Aizawa S, Sakata I, Tsutsui C, Mondal A, Kanako K, Sakai T (2012). Molecular identification of GHS-R and GPR38 in Suncus murinus. Pept. 2012 Jul;36(1):29-38. DOI: 10.1016/j.peptides.2012.04.019 PMID: 22579813
- 126. Szurszewski JH (1969). A migrating electric complex of canine small intestine.Am J Physiol. 1969 Dec;217(6):1757-63. PMID: 5353053
- 127. Tack J, Depoortere I, Bisschops R, Delporte C, Coulie B (2006). Influence of ghrelin on interdigestive gastrointestinal motility in humans. Gut. 2006 Mar;55(3):327-33. DOI: 10.1136/gut.2004.060426 PMID: 16216827
- 128. Takahashi T (2013). Interdigestive migrating motor complex -its mechanism and clinical importance. J Smooth Muscle Res. 2013;49:99-111. PMID: 24662475
- 129. Tolle V, Zizzari P, Tomasetto C, Rio MC, Epelbaum J, Bluet-Pajot MT (2001). In vivo and in vitro effects of ghrelin/motilin-related peptide on growth hormone secretion in the rat. Neuroendocrinol. 2001 Jan;73(1):54-61. PMID: 11174017
- 130. Tschop M, Smiley DL, Heiman ML (2000). Ghrelin induces adiposity in rodents.Nat. 2000 Oct 19;407(6806):908-13. PMID: 11057670
- 131. Tsutsui C, Kajihara K, Yanaka T, Sakata I, Itoh Z, Oda S, Sakai T (2009). House musk shrew (Suncus murinus, order: Insectivora) as a new model animal for motilin study. Pept. 2009 Feb;30(2):318-29. DOI: 10.1016/j.peptides.2008.10.006. PMID: 18996160
- 132. Van Assche G, Depoortere I, Thijs T, Janssens JJ, Peeters TL (1997). Concentration-dependent stimulation of cholinergic motor nerves or smooth muscle by [Nle13] motilin in the isolated rabbit gastric antrum. Eur J Pharmacol. 1997 Oct 22;337(2-3):267-74. PMID: 9430424
- 133. Vantrappen G, Janssens J, Hellemans J, Ghoos Y (1977). The interdigestive motor complex of normal subjects and patients with bacterial overgrowth of the small

intestine. J Clin Invest. 1977 Jun;59(6):1158-66. DOI:10.1172/JCI108740. PMID:864008

- 134. Vantrappen G, Janssens J, Peeters TL, Bloom SR, Christofides ND, Hellemans J (1979). Motilin and the interdigestive migrating motor complex in man. Dig Dis Sci. 1979 Jul;24(7):497-500. PMID: 456236
- 135. Wingate DL (1981). Backwards and Forwards with the migrating complex. Dig Dis Sci. 1981 Jul;26(7):641-66. PMID: 7018863
- 136. Wingate DL, Ruppin H, Green WE, Thompson HH, Domschke W, Wunsch E, Demling L, Ritchie HD (1976). Motilin-induced electrical activity in the canine gastrointestinal tract. Scand J Gastroenterol Suppl. 1976;39:111-8. PMID: 1069360
- 137. Wise RA (2004). Rewards wanted: Molecular mechanisms of motivation. Discov Med. 2004Jun;4(22):180-6. PMID: 20704982
- 138. Wren AM, Small CJ, Ward HL, Murphy KG, Dakin CL, Taheri S, Kennedy AR, Roberts GH, Morgan DG, Ghatei MA, Bloom SR (2000). The novel hypothalamic peptide ghrelin stimulates food intake and growth hormone secretion. Endocrinol. 2000 Nov;141(11):4325-8. PMID: 11089570
- 139. Yakabi K, Kawashima J, Kato S (2008). Ghrelin and gastric acid secretion. World J Gastroenterol. 2008 Nov 7;14(41):6334-8. PMID: 19009648
- 140. Yi SQ, Akita K, Ohta T, Shimokawa T, Tanaka A, Ru F, Nakatani T, Isomura G, Tanaka S (2004). Cellular localization of endocrine cells in the adult pancreas of the house musk shrew, Suncus murinus: a comparative immunocytochemical study. Gen Comp Endocrinol. 2004 Apr;136(2):162-70. DOI: 10.1016/j.ygcen.2003.12.014 PMID: 15028519
- 141. Yi SQ, Ohta T, Miwa K, Shimokawa T, Akita K, Itoh M, Miyamoto K, Tanaka S (2005). Surgical anatomy of the innervation of the major duodenal papilla in

human and Suncus murinus, from the perspective of preserving innervation in organ-saving procedures. Pancreas. 2005 Apr;30(3):211-7. PMID: 15782096

- 142. Zeitlow A, Nakajima H, Taniguchi H, Ludwik K, Takahashi T (2010). Association between plasma ghrelin and motilin levels during MMC cycle in conscious dogs. Regul Pept. 2010 Sep 24;164(2-3):78-82. PMID: 20609429
- 143. Zhang X, Guo H, Xu J, Li Y, Li L, Zhang X, Li X, Fan R, Zhang Y, Duan Z, Zhu J (2012). Dopamine receptor D1 mediates the inhibition of dopamine on the distal colonic motility. Transl Res. 2012 May;159(5):407-14. DOI: 10.1016/j.trsl.2012.01.002 PMID: 22500514
- 144. Zheng J, Ariga H, Taniguchi H, Ludwig K, Takahashi T (2009). Ghrelin regulates gastric phase III-like contractions in freely moving conscious mice. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2009 Jan;21(1):78-84. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2982.2008.01179.x PMID: 18761630
- 145. Zizzo MG, Mulè F, Serio R (2007). Functional evidence for GABA as modulator of the contractility of the longitudinal muscle in mouse duodenum: role of GABA(A) and GABA(C) receptors. Neuropharmacology. 2007 Jun;52(8):1685-90. DOI: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2007.03.016. PMID: 17517423